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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  We're going to call to order the meeting 2 

of Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board in the matter of 3 

the Category 2 hearing for Tropicana, Pennsylvania, 4 

LLC.  Tropicana is one of the applicants for a 5 

Category 2 slot machine license in the City of 6 

Allentown.  Following a thorough review, an analysis 7 

of the application by staff, this hearing is to 8 

provide a final opportunity for the applicant to 9 

demonstrate to the Board's satisfaction, not only that 10 

it is suitable for the license, but that it should 11 

receive one of the available licenses.   12 

  The procedure which we intend to follow, 13 

as in prior hearings, is as follows: first, Executive 14 

Director Anne Neeb and Chief Counsel, Frank Donaghue 15 

will provide an overview of the licensing and 16 

investigatory process in which staff has engaged and 17 

which has brought us to this hearing today.  The 18 

applicant will then have the opportunity to make its 19 

presentation and respond to questions or issues which 20 

may arise during the hearing. 21 

  Finally, we will receive input from the 22 

Bureaus of Licensing, Investigations and Enforcement 23 

and Corporate Compliance and internal controls 24 

concerning the determinations of those Bureaus which 25 
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review the application. 1 

  To start with, would all the applicants  2 

--- excuse me, will all the representatives of 3 

Tropicana and of the Board who may present testimony 4 

please rise to be sworn in? 5 

WITNESSES SWORN EN MASSE  6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 7 

  Thank you.  I'm now going to ask our 8 

Executive Director, Anne Neeb, to address the review 9 

of the application by our staff.  Thank you, ma'am. 10 

  MS. NEEB: 11 

  Thank you.  Good morning, Chairman 12 

Decker, members of the Board.  Today we're here to 13 

take up the application of Tropicana Pennsylvania, 14 

LLC, which application was filed on December 23rd, 15 

2005.  Since the filing of the application, a number 16 

of significant events have occurred to promote the 17 

review of the applicant for both eligibility and 18 

suitability for licensure under the Act. 19 

  Public input hearings were held in 20 

Allentown, Pennsylvania on April 28th, May 22nd and 21 

May 23rd, 2006, during which time Tropicana 22 

Pennsylvania, LLC made a presentation concerning its 23 

project, which included oral testimony and the 24 

submission of documentary exhibits. 25 
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  During the course of the hearings, 33 1 

speakers presented either support or opposition to the 2 

project.  This hearing was recorded and has been 3 

transcribed.  Second, the Pennsylvania Gaming Control 4 

Board placed a significant amount of information and 5 

material submitted by Tropicana on its website for the 6 

public to have access to the information concerning 7 

its proposals, projections and studies that had been 8 

presented to the Board.  These documents included a 9 

diversity plan, a local impact report, which consisted 10 

of a March 6th, 2006 supplement to the December 2005 11 

report.   12 

  A proposed facility location information, 13 

traffic, water, sewer emergency services and law 14 

enforcement impact along with an economic tourism and 15 

social impact study.  A dissemination of this 16 

information permitted the Board's receipt of written 17 

submissions both in support of and in opposition to 18 

the project.  On June 2nd, 2006, the cutoff time for 19 

the receipt of written submissions, the Board had 20 

received --- let's see, 20 submissions, and all 20 21 

were in support of the application. 22 

  There was no opposition.  In addition, 23 

the Bureau of Licensing, the Bureau of Investigation 24 

Enforcement and the Bureau of Corporate Compliance 25 
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have undertaken the review of the application 1 

consistent with the mandates of the Act.  The result 2 

of this licensing and investigative phase of the 3 

application process is a creation of the suitability 4 

report, which summarized the findings of the Bureau's 5 

as to the applicant's compliance with the Act's 6 

licensing eligibility and suitability requirements. 7 

  Further in the application, Tropicana 8 

Pennsylvania, LLC submitted a traffic study.  The 9 

Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board retained the firm of 10 

McCormick Taylor to review the study and issue a 11 

report.  The applicant was given an opportunity to 12 

review that report and submit its comments.  At this 13 

time, I'd like to turn over the proceedings to our 14 

Chief Counsel Frank Donaghue to discuss the 15 

stipulations and introduction of evidence. 16 

  ATTORNEY DONAGHUE: 17 

  Thank you, Anne.  The parties have also 18 

entered into a stipulation regarding the procedure 19 

employed by the Bureaus of Licensing, Investigation 20 

Enforcement and Corporate Compliance.  This 21 

stipulation has been marked as Exhibit Eight.   22 

  The culmination of this work, since the 23 

end of 2005 has resulted in an evidentiary record 24 

which includes the full application, local impact 25 
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statements, traffic studies, the transcript of the 1 

public input hearing, the written comments presented 2 

to and received by the Board, the licensing 3 

suitability report and the stipulated testimony.   4 

  The parties have entered into a 5 

stipulation that each of the items which are 6 

identified and offered as Exhibits One through Nine 7 

are to be admitted into the record as stipulated 8 

evidentiary record for the Board's consideration.  In 9 

addition, the transcripts of these proceedings and any 10 

other evidence submitted and admitted as exhibits in 11 

connection with the applicant's licensing hearing 12 

today would likewise be part of the Board's review and 13 

consideration. 14 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 15 

  Thank you, Frank and Anne.  In light of 16 

the stipulation regarding Exhibits One through Nine, 17 

do I have that correct? 18 

  ATTORNEY DONAGHUE: 19 

  One through Nine.  That is correct. 20 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 21 

  Being admitted to the evidentiary record 22 

in this matter?  First of all, any objections from the 23 

applicant? 24 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 25 
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  No objection, Mr. Chairman. 1 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 2 

  In light of that, may I have a motion  3 

to ---? 4 

  UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER: 5 

  So moved. 6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 7 

  Thank you.   8 

  MR. ANGELI: 9 

  Second. 10 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 11 

  Any questions?  All those in favor? 12 

AYES RESPOND 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 14 

  Any against?  The exhibits are admitted 15 

to the record.  Thank you very much.  16 

  ATTORNEY DONAGHUE: 17 

  Thank you. 18 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 19 

  Again, let me make sure everyone 20 

understands, subject to the caveat, of course, that 21 

the confidentiality provided in the statute will still 22 

apply to that.  Thank you.  All right.  Anne? 23 

  MS. NEEB: 24 

  At this time, I'd like to ask Mr. Al 25 
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Federico to come up from McCormick Taylor to give his 1 

report to the Board on his traffic studies.   2 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 3 

  Mr. Federico, I presume you were sworn 4 

in? 5 

  MR. FEDERICO: 6 

  Yes, sir. 7 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 8 

  Thank you.  Please proceed.  Thank you.   9 

  MR. FEDERICO: 10 

  My name is Al Federico, and I'm the 11 

project manager with McCormick Taylor responsible for 12 

the review of the traffic study submitted by the 13 

Applicant.  The review that was completed included 14 

assessing a traffic study to ensure conformance with 15 

applicable standards, validating traffic data that was 16 

provided.  Evaluating the proposed improvements 17 

included in this study, as well as visiting the 18 

project site and coordination with the local 19 

municipality and PennDOT district. 20 

  An initial preliminary review was 21 

completed in July of 2006.  The Applicant submitted a 22 

revised study, which was reviewed in November of this 23 

year.  Additionally, another study was prepared at the 24 

request of the city, to evaluate a Phase I facility.  25 
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And this was reviewed, and an addendum was issued in 1 

December of this year. 2 

  The traffic study included a limited 3 

study area of five external intersections as well as 4 

two site accesses.  It looked at the morning and 5 

weekday, evening periods.  There was no evaluation of 6 

the Saturday evening --- or the Saturday peak which is 7 

typically the peak generator for the gaming 8 

facilities.   9 

  The trip generation for the facility was 10 

based on a study of a similar facility, information 11 

provided by the Applicant.  This facility in 12 

Evansville has approximately half of the attendance 13 

that is proposed for the current facility.  And 14 

additionally there was no separate traffic generated 15 

for the hotel, it was assumed all to be included 16 

within the information from the Evansville facility. 17 

  The peak generation for the proposed 18 

development submitted in the study was for the evening 19 

peak, and that was 674 total trips. 20 

  The proposed improvements included in the 21 

traffic study, as funded by the Applicant are limited 22 

to improvements to the site access.  There were 23 

several other traffic improvements identified within 24 

the traffic study along Airport Road.  However, those 25 
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were all improvements that are proposed by other 1 

developments within the area.  Additionally, the 2 

proposed improvements still have --- do not appear to 3 

adequately provide acceptable levels of service at 4 

several locations. 5 

  One of the other issues that was brought 6 

up is that the study did not address the interchange 7 

of U.S. 22 and Airport Road where a majority of this 8 

traffic, a significant majority I believe, 9 

approximately 90 percent is destined in this 10 

interchange where the mainline were not evaluated.  11 

Additionally, it appears that there are going to be 12 

several road connections to the area south of the 13 

site, Union --- that did not get addressed by the 14 

study.  And additionally, as previously noted, the 15 

majority of the improvements that are presented in the 16 

study are proposed by other developments.  Thank you.17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  What other developments are we talking 19 

about? 20 

  MR. FEDERICO: 21 

  There is a proposed retail center on 22 

Airport Road.  I believe that was the most significant 23 

one identified in the study.   24 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 25 
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  So will the improvements for that help in 1 

terms of the flow of the traffic all the way through? 2 

  MR. FEDERICO: 3 

  They will help.  However, we have 4 

expressed concerns that if something happens with that 5 

development and those improvements do not occur, then 6 

they don't help. 7 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 8 

  Okay.  Thank you.  Any questions for Mr. 9 

Federico?  Thank you. 10 

  MR. FEDERICO: 11 

  Thank you. 12 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 13 

  As soon as Mr. Federico unplugs, we'll 14 

turn it over to the Applicant. 15 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 16 

  Good morning, Mr. Chairman. 17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  Good morning. 19 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 20 

  Members of the Board.  I am Ray Quaglia 21 

from the Ballard Spahr firm, again.  I'm assuming I 22 

have not worn out my welcome at prior hearings.  It is 23 

my privilege and my pleasure to be here today on 24 

behalf of the Applicant, Tropicana Pennsylvania, LLC. 25 
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To my right, in addition to Mr. Federico, I have Donna 1 

More, the General Counsel of Columbia Entertainment, 2 

from whom you will be hearing later. 3 

  We would like to begin today, as we 4 

always do, by expressing our appreciation to the 5 

Board's indefatigable staff for all of their efforts.  6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 7 

  I think they're getting way too much 8 

credit.  9 

   ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 10 

  Trying to name everyone who devoted their 11 

days, nights and weekends to this application would 12 

probably consume a good part of our allotted hearing 13 

time.  But I would be remised not to express our 14 

particular gratitude to Brenda Reese, Barry Creany 15 

(phonetic), Natalie Jacoby (phonetic) and Tracey 16 

Hackett (phonetic).  Whether December 20th brings 17 

tidings, glad or ill, we and I will always be grateful 18 

for having had the opportunity to work with such a 19 

dedicated group of professionals during this historic 20 

and truly remarkable year.  We thank them. 21 

  Turning to --- from the sublime to the 22 

pedestrian, we had several exhibits to mark, as well, 23 

that we have previously discussed with the staff.  I 24 

will identify them for the record, if I may. 25 
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  Exhibit Ten is Applicant's 441.19(J) 1 

memorandum, filed November 2nd, and supplement filed 2 

December 12th.  Exhibit 11 is Applicant's Notice of 3 

Intent to present comparative evidence filed November 4 

14th.  Exhibit 12 is Applicant's reply Notice of 5 

Intent to present comparative evidence relating to 6 

Sands Bethworks Gaming, LLC filed November 27th.  7 

Exhibit 13 is a PowerPoint presentation.  A copy of 8 

the PowerPoint presentation we'll be presenting today, 9 

which is going to be given to the Board today.  10 

  Exhibit 14 is correspondence from the 11 

Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, 12 

dated December 5th and 6th, which was previously filed 13 

with the Board on December 6th.  Exhibit 15 is an 14 

updated summary of awards and recognition received by 15 

Casino Aztar Evansville, which is being submitted to 16 

the Board today.  Exhibit 16 is a November 30th, 2006 17 

declaration executed between the Applicant and the 18 

City of Allentown, which was previously filed with the 19 

Board on December 4th.  And Exhibit 17 is an October 20 

13th letter from the City of Bethlehem, Bureau of 21 

Planning to Sands Bethworks Gaming, which is being 22 

submitted to the Board today.  And I would request 23 

that they be moved into evidence at this time. 24 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 25 
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  Thank you.  Any objections from our 1 

staff?  2 

  UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER: 3 

  No objection. 4 

  MR. ANGELI: 5 

  Second. 6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 7 

  Second, please.  Thank you.  All in 8 

favor? 9 

AYES RESPOND 10 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 11 

  Any against?  The motion carries.  Those 12 

exhibits are admitted to evidence.  Thank you. 13 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 14 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Although we 15 

have, as the record reflects, filed a comparative 16 

notice and a comparative reply notice with respect to 17 

the Sands Bethworks application, we will not be doing 18 

a separate comparative presentation today.  Our 19 

intention is simply to weave our points of comparison 20 

into our presentation of the unique benefits of the 21 

Tropicana application.   22 

  And while we are constrained to correct a 23 

number of misstatements that were made at the hearing 24 

last week, we are not here to cast aspersions on the 25 
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Las Vegas Sands or its principals.  We are here to 1 

show the Board that we deserve a license because we 2 

are the perfect fit for the Lehigh Valley, and it is 3 

on that note that I would like to present our first 4 

witness today, the Chairman and Chief Executive 5 

Officer of Aztar Corporation, Mr. Robert Haddock. 6 

  MR. HADDOCK: 7 

  Good morning, Chairman Decker, members of 8 

the Board.  For the record, I am Robert Haddock, 9 

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of 10 

Aztar Corporation.  My appearance here today before 11 

you is special for me, in a personal way.  I was 12 

raised in Scranton.  My 89-year-old father still lives 13 

there in the same house where I was raised.  And I 14 

visit here regularly. 15 

  So it is incredibly exciting for me to be 16 

part of the team working to bring a gaming license to 17 

the Lehigh Valley and Allentown, which I visited so 18 

often as a kid.  Seldom does a businessman in my line 19 

of work get the opportunity to come home, so to speak, 20 

with a plan to revitalize the local economy.  And 21 

today I get my chance, which is enormously gratifying 22 

to me. 23 

  Let me begin with a corporate update.  24 

Aztar shareholders have agreed to sell our company to 25 
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a privately held company owned by Mr. Bill Yung.  1 

Gaming regulators in New Jersey, Nevada, Indiana, 2 

Mississippi and Louisiana have all approved Mr. Yung's 3 

acquisition of Aztar.  And we expect ownership and 4 

control of the company to change hands in early 5 

January.   6 

  This morning, we will present evidence to 7 

support the application of Tropicana Pennsylvania.  8 

Among the matters we will address are the following 9 

issues, which I think are relevant to your 10 

deliberations.  The strength of our management team, 11 

the attributes of our location, the scope of our 12 

project, how we plan to treat our employees, how the 13 

community in which we propose to operate feels about 14 

us, and how quickly we can get the project open, six 15 

points.  16 

  And I would like to set the stage for 17 

this morning's testimony by commenting briefly on each 18 

of those issues.  Starting with management, indeed, it 19 

all begins with management, and I believe we have a 20 

uniquely strong and qualified management team.  On the 21 

one hand, Tropicana Management has been operating 22 

successfully in the northeastern gaming market for 25 23 

years.  So our people know what works in this market.  24 

  On the other hand, Bill Yung has 25 
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entrepreneurial drive and an incredible attention to 1 

detail.  No absentee owner, I can tell you that.  Bill 2 

will be all over this project, driving revenue at 3 

every opportunity.  And his organization brings strong 4 

expertise in resort operations and construction.  So 5 

the combination of Tropicana's and Columbia's 6 

management skills result, I think, in a uniquely 7 

strong team to design, build and operate a successful 8 

gaming resort in the Lehigh Valley. 9 

  Second point, location.  In gaming, as in 10 

other real estate ventures, a good location is 11 

critical to success.  I believe we have the best 12 

location in the Lehigh Valley for a gaming resort 13 

hands down.   14 

  The Route 22 corridor provides easy 15 

access to our location from all points within the 16 

Lehigh Valley, and from the major metropolitan areas 17 

of New York and Philadelphia, our site is a  18 

five-minute drive from the Lehigh Valley Airport.   19 

  We have four-lane roads right up to the 20 

site.  And our project will be visible to motorists on 21 

Route 22, which is the backbone of the Lehigh Valley 22 

Transportation System.   23 

  Project components --- in the gaming 24 

business, bigger is not always better.  The gaming 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

19  19 

industry is replete with examples of markets where the 1 

biggest operator was not successful, because he did 2 

not understand the market or because he overbuilt for 3 

the market.   4 

  What does matter in maximizing casino 5 

revenue is developing a project that is the perfect 6 

fit.  The right mix of gaming products, service and 7 

promotion for the market.  In the Lehigh Valley, I 8 

have absolutely no doubt that we can deliver that 9 

better than anyone else.   10 

  Employees.  We fully intend to have 11 

excellent relations with organized labor, not just 12 

building trades, but also unions representing 13 

operating employees.  We are also fully committed to 14 

minority hiring, and we know how to be successful at 15 

it.  16 

  Community and community support.  There 17 

is very strong community support for our project and 18 

virtually no opposition.  Undoubtedly, we have public 19 

support because the City of Allentown and its school 20 

district desperately needs the economic kick start 21 

that our project can provide.  We also have excellent 22 

community relations in other similarly sized markets 23 

where we operate. 24 

  The lack of opposition to our project 25 
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comes from the fact that our site is perfectly located 1 

for a gaming operation, not close to residences, 2 

schools or churches, not going to result in traffic 3 

congestion, and not going to negatively impact 4 

existing businesses.   5 

  And the last, the sixth point timing to 6 

opening.  In my opinion, this is the critical issue.  7 

Tropicana can be an operation in Allentown and 8 

contributing to tax relief within 12 months in the 9 

first quarter of 2007.  We can do that, because we 10 

have been diligent in pursuing land use approvals from 11 

the very start.  Not so the Venetian, who began the 12 

process of obtaining land use approvals only in 13 

August.  14 

  They are now very far behind us in the 15 

approval process, and frankly, at risk for legal 16 

challenge.  In comparison, Tropicana has  17 

non-appealable land development plan approval, and we 18 

are ready to pull construction permits.   19 

  I should add that Bill Yung, who has been 20 

a general contractor since 1972 has the expertise and 21 

the organization to build the project very, very 22 

quickly.  And don't be mislead by project cost 23 

comparisons.  You get a lot more product for the buck 24 

when Bill Yung builds it. 25 
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  In closing, I would like to say that I 1 

have every confidence in the capabilities and 2 

commitment of Bill Yung and his team to operate a 3 

gaming resort in the Lehigh Valley that will optimize 4 

casino revenue.  If you award them a gaming license, I 5 

have no doubt they will serve the Commonwealth of 6 

Pennsylvania very well.  Thank you very much for your 7 

attention.   8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 9 

  Thank you. 10 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 11 

  Our next witness is Sebastian Sinclair, 12 

president of Christiansen Capital Advisors, LLC.  Mr. 13 

Sinclair has conducted numerous studies of the 14 

economics, financial structure, and valuation of 15 

existing and proposed gaming facilities on behalf of 16 

owners, lenders and government agencies alike.  He 17 

specializes in the competitive economics, business 18 

models and strategic financial analysis of legal 19 

gaming industries.   20 

  Mr. Sinclair has authored numerous trade 21 

and professional publications dealing with the 22 

economic and financial aspects of gaming.  Mr. 23 

Sinclair, if you could just describe briefly for the 24 

Board the business of Christiansen Capital Advisors? 25 
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  MR. SINCLAIR: 1 

  Sure.  CCA is a boutique consulting firm, 2 

well-recognized as leading analysts in the world on 3 

the economics of casino gaming, racing, lotteries, 4 

bingo and all forms of commercial gambling.  Our 5 

principals and staff have performed studies on the 6 

feasibility of gaming projects for both public and 7 

private sector clients in more than 50 states, 8 

provinces and foreign countries.  9 

  We take a scientific approach to these 10 

studies, and the results of our analysis have been 11 

presented in respected peer economic journals.  12 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 13 

  And what was the nature and scope of 14 

CCA's engagement for the Tropicana project? 15 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 16 

  CCA was hired by Columbia Entertainment 17 

in October of 2006 at the request and recommendation 18 

of lenders to the project, specifically Bank of 19 

America and Wachovia Bank.  The lenders were seeking 20 

an independent third party analysis of management's 21 

projections for gaming revenues.  CCA completed its 22 

report regarding the revenue potential of a Category 2 23 

machine facility in Allentown the first week of 24 

November 2006. 25 
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  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 1 

  Mr. Sinclair's report is in the record, 2 

but for the Board's benefit, Mr. Sinclair, what was 3 

the bottom line of CCA's study? 4 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 5 

  The bottom line was we found that the 6 

project was not only feasible, but we believe that 7 

management's initial projections were slightly 8 

conservative.  Assuming 3,000 slot machines and the 9 

amenities and the capital expenditures that were 10 

planned for the project, we estimate the year-one slot 11 

win will be about $260.9 million, rapidly rising to 12 

$303.3 million in year two, and then on to $346 13 

million in year five. 14 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 15 

  And what methodology did CCA use in 16 

conducting its study? 17 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 18 

  To develop projections for gaming 19 

revenues at the proposed Allentown facility, CCA 20 

employed models.  We have used in numerous other 21 

studies to analyze and develop similar projections for 22 

various kinds of gambling facilities and a variety of 23 

markets, modified to take into account specific 24 

eastern Pennsylvania market conditions.   25 
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  This model is often referred to as a 1 

gravity model or sometimes a constrained gravity 2 

model.  It's commonly used in the analysis of 3 

location-based businesses.  It's somewhat similar to 4 

Newton's Law of Gravitation.  The model assesses and 5 

projects revenues based upon the distribution and the 6 

characteristics of the population surrounding each 7 

facility. 8 

  Furthermore, our revenue projections are 9 

based upon an important observation.  Other things 10 

being equal, casino patrons, particularly slot 11 

players, overwhelmingly tend to gamble at the facility 12 

that is most conveniently located for them.  Slot 13 

machines generally are commodities.   14 

  Geographic proximity and ease of access 15 

tend to outweigh other factors in consumer choice 16 

among competing suppliers.  In other words, 17 

accessibility is very important.  Gaming patrons are 18 

considerably less likely to visit a gaming facility 19 

that is much more difficult and/or time consuming to 20 

reach.   21 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 22 

  Thank you.  Now, how, if at all, do CCA's 23 

conclusions square with other revenue projections for 24 

the Lehigh Valley? 25 
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  MR. SINCLAIR: 1 

  Well, that depends on whose projections 2 

you're comparing them to.  Our numbers are virtually 3 

identical to, I think, within 1.4 percent of the 4 

projections of the Board's financial suitability task 5 

force.  Our numbers are largely inconsistent with the 6 

revenue projections of the Las Vegas Sands, however. 7 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 8 

  And how do you explain the discrepancy 9 

with the numbers at the Las Vegas Sands? 10 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 11 

  I'm not sure that I can.  As the task 12 

force appears to have recognized the demographics of 13 

the market for Bethlehem are effectively identical to 14 

the market for Allentown.  When we applied our 15 

standard methodology to the Bethlehem location, 16 

essentially moving it to their site, we came up with a 17 

total revenue differential of only about $400,000 from 18 

Allentown.   19 

  My understanding is that the Las Vegas 20 

Sands is expecting a lot of business from the I-78 21 

corridor, but the Tropicana is no more than five 22 

minutes further removed down I-78 than the Sands 23 

sites, and we'd be positioned to get that same 24 

business. 25 
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  I believe that the Sands projections were 1 

prepared by the Innovation Group that presents a 2 

little confusion, because the Innovation Group also 3 

prepared the Statewide Revenue Projection study for 4 

the State Democratic Appropriations Committee three 5 

years ago.  That was more conservative for the Lehigh 6 

Valley than even the task force drive time analysis. 7 

  To answer the initial question, my only 8 

guess is that the Las Vegas Sands is using some kind 9 

of destination resort multiplier to justify revenues 10 

of $374 million.  This is, however, a dangerous 11 

assumption to make.  As I think --- as Bob alluded to, 12 

Plan Destination Resort is sometimes a risky 13 

investment, particularly in a non-established single 14 

facility market, like we're talking about here. 15 

  If we had a little more time, I could 16 

share with you the cautionary tale of Harris New 17 

Orleans, another project that was predicated on 18 

tourists or destination visitors, and also was further 19 

encumbered by a relatively large government share of 20 

gaming revenues.   21 

  The history of the project is that when 22 

expected tourist traffic failed to materialize, the 23 

project was forced into bankruptcy protection.  24 

  It's important to note that you have a 25 
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relatively high government share of gaming revenues in 1 

Pennsylvania as well.  This, in my view, only 2 

increases the risk of a large-scale capital 3 

investment. 4 

  In my opinion, the more appropriate 5 

revenue numbers that the Board should consider for 6 

even the Sands Bethworks project, those are the 7 

financial suitability task force, CCA and possibly 8 

even the Innovation Group study that was initially 9 

done in 2003. 10 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 11 

  Thank you, Mr. Sinclair.  Final question, 12 

based on your experience will the corporate 13 

affiliation between the Lehigh Valley Tropicana and 14 

the Tropicana in Atlantic City adversely impact 15 

revenue here in the Lehigh Valley? 16 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 17 

  No.  To the contrary.  I think that 18 

Tropicana's pre-existing database of rated casino 19 

gamers will provide an early advantage to the operator 20 

and subsequently to the Commonwealth, because there is 21 

already an established base of loyal customers in the 22 

Lehigh Valley from which to draw, getting the market 23 

materials to the right people.   24 

  Tropicana's preferred player programs, in 25 
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turn, will give the existing customers an additional 1 

motive to visit the Lehigh Valley Tropicana.  2 

Secondly, and more importantly, the argument that a 3 

Lehigh Valley casino could divert material business to 4 

Atlantic City, even if it wanted to, doesn't work in 5 

the real world.  Eighty-nine (89) percent of the 6 

market for the Lehigh Valley Tropicana, and presumably 7 

for Bethlehem as well will be located within 50 8 

minutes of the casino.  That means --- that compares 9 

to a two and a half hour drive to Atlantic City for 10 

those located south of Allentown.  For the rest of the 11 

market it could be three hours or more. 12 

  This is just too far away to be 13 

worthwhile for a consumer who has slot machines in his 14 

own backyard.   15 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 16 

  Thank you very much, Mr. Sinclair.  The 17 

Applicant now calls Richard Ruden, the Executive 18 

Director of Development with Aztar Corporation.  Mr. 19 

Ruden has been with Aztar and its predecessor, Ramada 20 

since 1988.  He has been the key man for the 21 

Applicant, for the Lehigh Valley Tropicana 22 

development.  He has vast experience in all phases of 23 

development.  And I must note that of all the 24 

witnesses I have had the privilege to present to the 25 
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Board, no one has enjoyed practicing their 1 

presentation as much as Mr. Ruden. 2 

  MR. RUDEN: 3 

  Thank you, Ray.  Good morning, Mr. 4 

Chairman and members of the Board.  As the head of 5 

development for the proposed Lehigh Valley Tropicana, 6 

I would like to take this opportunity to familiarize 7 

the Board with our project and the process that led to 8 

selecting our site in the City of Allentown.  Back in 9 

December of 2004, Bob had asked me to search for sites 10 

in the Lehigh Valley to accommodate a first class 11 

casino and entertainment facility.   12 

  The critical characteristics for site 13 

selection included ease of access and development and 14 

a location that would benefit from this project.  Our 15 

search for the perfect site in the Lehigh Valley 16 

started with the City of Bethlehem.  17 

  I met with Mayor Callahan of Bethlehem in 18 

January of 2005, but we quickly came to understand 19 

that this quaint vibrant city already had ongoing 20 

revitalization, not only of Centre City, but also of 21 

its south side.  We could not convince ourselves that 22 

this community would be appropriate for a gaming 23 

facility.  We saw the churches, the schools, the 24 

residences all within close proximity to any sensible 25 
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location. 1 

  We then turned our attention to 2 

Allentown.  We were able to identify a location only 3 

1.3 miles from Route 22 and Airport Road.  This 4 

intersection is the most critical available location 5 

in the Lehigh Valley, and as our traffic expert will 6 

testify, our location is the most accessible from all 7 

points.   8 

  The intersection of Route 22 and Airport 9 

Road puts us within minutes of Lehigh Valley 10 

International Airport near numerous hotels, 11 

restaurants, shopping and the Lehigh Valley Downs OTB 12 

facility, all of which will benefit economically, if 13 

we are granted a license.   14 

  We became so convinced that this 15 

Allentown location provided the perfect fit for a 16 

casino project, that we are the owners of a fully 17 

assembled 24-acre parcel that was part of the old 18 

Western Electric and AT&T plant.  Today it stands 19 

development ready, which will speed the development 20 

process.  Our immediate neighbors are commercial and 21 

light industrial businesses, not churches, schools or 22 

residences.   And once more, there is adjoining 23 

available property that will provide ample open 24 

acreage for future development.   25 
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  We knew that when we acquired the 1 

property, that we would need to have the parcel to be 2 

appropriately zoned for gaming.  We accomplished this 3 

task, and please let the record indicate that we did 4 

so with the full support of the citizens of Allentown.  5 

  Prior to closing on the entire 24-acre 6 

parcel in January of 2006, we performed numerous 7 

environmental studies on this Brownfield site 8 

including Phase I and Phase II testing encompassing 9 

both soil and groundwater.  We immediately pursued 10 

obtaining Act II clearance, a standard process for 11 

Brownfield's sites.  And I am presenting to you today, 12 

the Pennsylvania DEP's approval of our plan to comply 13 

with the Act II process. 14 

  It is important to note that contrary to 15 

the misstatement made by the Sands Bethworks team, we 16 

have no environmental issues that would affect the 17 

timely development of our project.  Our environmental 18 

experts are here with us today to answer any 19 

questions. 20 

  Today, our efforts have paid off to open 21 

as soon as possible by accelerating architectural and 22 

civil drawings and achieving final unappealable land 23 

use approval. 24 

  All we need to begin construction is a 25 
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gaming license from you.  We can begin site work 1 

immediately and our architects can file for foundation 2 

and footing permits.  We're the only project in the 3 

Lehigh Valley that could honestly make such a claim. 4 

  And I want to underscore, again, a point 5 

that I made a moment ago.  In all of our public 6 

hearings before city council and the Allentown 7 

Planning Commission, and, in fact, throughout this 8 

entire process, we received nothing but support from 9 

the City of Allentown and its residents.  That stands 10 

in stark contrast with the Bethlehem project where 11 

there is a divided city council and an organized broad 12 

base community opposition. 13 

  When we sat down and attempted to create 14 

a theme and brand for our project, we wanted to bring 15 

something unique to the Lehigh Valley that local 16 

residents would appreciate.  It quickly became 17 

apparent to us that our trademark Tropicana brand was 18 

the perfect fit.  Our extremely successful expansion 19 

in Atlantic City, which includes the corridor, an 20 

extensive and dining retail and entertainment center, 21 

along with hotel rooms and meeting space is the 22 

perfect model for the Lehigh Valley Tropicana.  23 

  In the corridor, we have successfully 24 

integrated a casino and a non-casino entertainment 25 
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environment where patrons feel as if they're walking 1 

the streets of Havana on a bright sunny day.  We 2 

wanted the same feel in Allentown, but tailored for 3 

the community. 4 

  As such, we devised a two-phase project 5 

that could be built and constructed in the timeliest 6 

manner possible.  7 

  Our first phase will include the 8 

following elements, a first class 100,000 square foot 9 

gaming floor integrating the Tropicana theme that will 10 

open with 3,000 slot machines.  A full service 250-11 

room Marriott hotel with its own separate porte-12 

cochere and related amenities. 13 

  Credit should be given to Bill Yung, the 14 

largest Marriott full-service franchisee in the 15 

country, who wanted to bring a first class hotel to 16 

the Lehigh Valley.  And with us today is Mr. David 17 

Tarr, vice president of Marriott, who can answer any 18 

questions that you might have. 19 

  Our casino floor will have three lounges, 20 

each with a different personality, and each with 21 

varying entertainment.  Our dining options will 22 

feature an exciting array of 11 establishments, 23 

including a gourmet steakhouse, a 400-seat buffet.  A 24 

food market place comprised of five outlets with such 25 
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names Starbucks and Ben & Jerry's.  But we will also 1 

have three leased venues, for which we already have 2 

commitments from Cuba Libre of Philadelphia and RiRa 3 

Irish Pub. 4 

  Together, we'll have approximately 40,000 5 

square feet of dining within the first phase, the 6 

perfect fit for the Lehigh Valley.  In addition, we 7 

have designed a showroom that can be used for headline 8 

entertainment, comedy club, a nightclub or even large 9 

group meetings. 10 

  Another critical component is our 11 

proposed executive conference center.  This venue was 12 

added to address the Lehigh Valley's paucity of 13 

quality meeting space.  It will not only be available 14 

to the local community, but will also attract the 15 

overnight business traveler infusing external dollars 16 

into the regional economy.  And our parking in this 17 

first phase will accommodate a total of 3,400 18 

vehicles, of which 3,000 will be covered, structured 19 

parking and including an eight-bay bus depot.   20 

  We have specifically tried to respect 21 

local businesses in our plan.  Our Phase I does not 22 

include any retail other than a gift shop.  This was 23 

intentional.  Our goal is not to cannibalize local 24 

businesses; our goal is to revitalize them.  We want 25 
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to work with the downtown and neighboring merchants, 1 

not put them out of business.  2 

  By comparison, the proposed Bethworks 3 

200,000 square feet of retail will potentially 4 

decimate the vibrant businesses and restaurants along 5 

Bethlehem South Third Street, as well as the quaint 6 

establishments in Centre City.  It will also 7 

negatively impact the new nearby 500,000 square foot 8 

promenade shops and the approved 600,000 square foot 9 

shopping complex in Bethlehem Township. 10 

  Looking forward, our Phase II almost 11 

doubles the capacity of the Lehigh Valley Tropicana to 12 

now 5,000 slot machines, 500 hotel rooms, a day spa, 13 

10,000 square feet of retail.  We'll also, at the end 14 

of this phase, have more than 20 different restaurants 15 

and lounges and a total of 4,500 covered parking 16 

spaces. 17 

  Our total project budget for both Phase I 18 

and Phase II in 2006 is $575 million.  And I would 19 

like to briefly discuss our opening time line.  Our 20 

original estimate was that Phase I could be completed 21 

15 to 18 months after the award of a license and 22 

necessary building permits.   23 

  Since that time, we have realistically 24 

been able to accelerate the project time line.  Why?  25 
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Well, Bill Yung is a general contractor who has built 1 

projects all over the U.S. with speed and efficiency. 2 

He will work with local contractors to achieve a  3 

fast-track project.  We will start site work 4 

immediately after you grant us a license, and break 5 

ground shortly thereafter.  6 

  Under our new timetable, the casino will 7 

open by the end of 2007, making us one of the first 8 

Category 2 licenses to open in the Commonwealth.  The 9 

rest of Phase I will be complete by September of '08.  10 

  And as for Phase II, our goal is to 11 

commence as soon as possible, but no later than five 12 

years after the completion of Phase I.  And one note 13 

regarding labor, we will enter into a project labor 14 

agreement with all the construction trades in the 15 

Lehigh Valley.  That assures quality paying jobs for 16 

the people who build our facility. 17 

  And in addition, on the operating side, 18 

we have signed an agreement with Teamster's Local 773 19 

that covers our permanent workforce.  And lastly, we 20 

have hosted a series of vendor seminars in which we 21 

committed to obtain diversification throughout the 22 

construction process, much as we did when we built 23 

Casino Aztar in Evansville, Indiana, where we exceeded 24 

state mandated goals. 25 
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  So the bottom line is, we are ready to 1 

go.  We have site control and all necessary approvals. 2 

We have environmental clearance.  We have had 3 

virtually no opposition to our proposed development in 4 

any public hearing relating to our project, and we 5 

have a traffic improvement plan in place.  Thank you 6 

for your attention. 7 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 8 

  Thank you.  Our next witness is Matthew 9 

Hammond, Executive Vice President of Traffic Planning 10 

and Design, Inc.  Mr. Hammond has personally managed 11 

over 250 land development projects in Pennsylvania, 12 

New Jersey and Delaware.  He oversees the completion 13 

of over 150 traffic impact studies annually.  He is 14 

well acquainted with the Allentown/Bethlehem area, 15 

having played a key role in the relocation of the 16 

Olympus America headquarters to the Lehigh Valley.  17 

Mr. Hammond, if you would please identify Traffic 18 

Planning and Design for the Board. 19 

  MR. HAMMOND: 20 

  Sure.  Traffic Planning and Design or TPD 21 

is 125-member traffic specific consulting firm.  TPD 22 

has four offices located in Pennsylvania and New 23 

Jersey.  We serve as the prime consultant for PennDOT 24 

District 6-0 and 8-0 highway occupancy permit review 25 
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contract.  We've worked on thousands of projects in 1 

Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Delaware and 2 

Virginia over the course of our 17-year history for 3 

both public and private sector clients.   4 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 5 

  And what was the nature and scope of 6 

TPD's engagement for the Tropicana project? 7 

  MR. HAMMOND: 8 

  TPD was retained in March of 2006 to 9 

complete a traffic impact study at the proposed Lehigh 10 

Valley Tropicana project.  We were also asked to 11 

assess feasibility from an access perspective.  The 12 

purposes of the study were to determine the potential 13 

impact of the project on traffic in the area, as well 14 

as to investigate the need for possible mitigation 15 

measures. 16 

  In addition, we were retained to work in 17 

concert with the site engineer, representatives from 18 

neighboring AAA Baseball team and Allentown city 19 

officials determined internal access and signage 20 

configurations to provide for the safe and efficient 21 

movement of traffic within and around the development. 22 

And finally, we were asked to evaluate the Sands 23 

Bethworks site from an access perspective. 24 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 25 
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  If you could please describe the process 1 

by which TPD conducted its traffic review? 2 

  MR. HAMMOND: 3 

  We collected detailed data regarding 4 

existing traffic volumes by conducting traffic counts 5 

at six major intersections during the weekday peak 6 

hours.  We selected intersections which see the most 7 

traffic volumes during the a.m. and p.m. peak hours, 8 

analyze the existing traffic flows and determine 9 

existing operation of the study area intersections. 10 

  We then researched and determined other 11 

developments planned in the area, which may have an 12 

affect on the adjacent roadway network, including the 13 

proposed mitigation measures of these other 14 

developments.  We've also researched potential PennDOT 15 

improvements proposed in the area, including the 16 

American Parkway Bridge. 17 

  In order to simulate the potential 18 

traffic generation from the casino, we utilized 19 

information compiled at a facility of similar size and 20 

use, that being Casino Aztar in Evansville, Indiana.  21 

We utilize this information to determine trip 22 

generation by comparing the existing customers at the 23 

Evansville location to projected customers in the 24 

Lehigh Valley.  25 
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  Based on all this information, we created 1 

a model utilizing the methodology contained in a 2 

highway capacity manual.  We modeled a variety of 3 

existing and projected conditions through the year 4 

2018, both with and without the Tropicana development 5 

and American Parkway Bridge. 6 

  We analyzed all of these different sets 7 

of conditions in order to determine the operation of 8 

the intersections analyzed within the traffic study.   9 

  We specifically included in our model 10 

worst case scenario traffic volumes, likely --- 11 

unlikely to occur in the real world.  Based on all the 12 

analyses performed, as well as taking into account the 13 

roadway improvements proposed by others, we determined 14 

the improvements which will be necessary to mitigate 15 

the traffic created by the Tropicana. 16 

  Working in conjunction with the City of 17 

Allentown, we developed an improvement plan, based on 18 

the proposed build out and ten years thereafter.  The 19 

proposed improvement plans, including signal time and 20 

modifications, have been approved by the City of 21 

Allentown. 22 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 23 

  And what were your findings with respect 24 

to the Tropicana site? 25 
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  MR. HAMMOND: 1 

  Of the two proposed casino sites in the 2 

Lehigh Valley, Tropicana has by far the best access.  3 

The sites sits in a network of four-lane arterials, 4 

including Route 22 and American Parkway to the north, 5 

Airport Road to the east, and Union Boulevard to the 6 

south.   7 

  As you can see, the site is directly 8 

accessible from American Parkway, which was recently 9 

constructed at a significant capacity, still 10 

available.  This strong network of arterials will get 11 

stronger with the implementation of the proposed 12 

roadway improvements. 13 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 14 

  And if you could, please describe the 15 

improvement plan for the Board? 16 

  MR. HAMMOND: 17 

  Because of the strong network of adjacent 18 

roads, the necessary improvements are relatively 19 

limited in scope.  Basically the Tropicana improvement 20 

plan would provide turning lanes at the main casino 21 

access point on American Parkway, which has the 22 

capacity for them, and then would make traffic signal 23 

improvements along the American Parkway corridor.  24 

  The total cost of the improvement plan is 25 
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approximately $500,000 and will be funded entirely by 1 

Tropicana.  The proposed improvements have been 2 

endorsed by the City of Allentown, and we expect to 3 

receive final approval by March of 2007 from PennDOT 4 

District 5-0. 5 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 6 

  And if you could please describe the 7 

process by which TPD conducted its traffic review of 8 

the Sands Bethworks site? 9 

  MR. HAMMOND: 10 

  We reviewed that traffic impact study, 11 

dated December 7th, 2005, downloaded from the Gaming 12 

Control Board website.  We then applied the same 13 

standard analysis to the Sands Bethworks project that 14 

we would apply to any other project submitted to us as 15 

part of our PennDOT review contract. 16 

  We also had discussions with PennDOT 17 

District 5-0 on the status of roadway improvement 18 

projects, which would affect the Bethworks development 19 

and access. 20 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 21 

  And what were your findings with respect 22 

to the Sands Bethworks site? 23 

  MR. HAMMOND: 24 

  First, their traffic study analyzed only 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

43  43 

four intersections.  It did not analyze the area ten 1 

years after build out, which PennDOT requires as a 2 

condition of highway occupancy permit approval. 3 

  Putting that deficiency aside, in 4 

contrast to the Tropicana site, the Sands Bethworks 5 

site has limited existing access, consisting primarily 6 

of two-lane roadways running through residential 7 

areas.  Their projections are counting on a heavy 8 

volume of traffic from the I-78 corridor, which is 9 

problematic. 10 

  The only direct route of access to the 11 

Sands Bethworks site from I-78 is Route 412.  Route 12 

412 is recognized as inadequate even under current 13 

conditions and is slated for a long awaited $70 14 

million upgrade. 15 

  However, that upgrade is not even 16 

scheduled to begin before the spring of 2009, well 17 

after the Sands Bethworks Casino would be open, and 18 

will not be completed until at least 2011 in a best 19 

case scenario. 20 

  In the meantime, due to its substantial 21 

scope, the 412 project would make the current traffic 22 

and access problems of the Sands Bethworks site even 23 

worse throughout the entire construction period. 24 

  In contrast to the looming traffic 25 
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nightmare at the Sands Bethworks site, the Lehigh 1 

Valley Tropicana site is ready to go from a traffic 2 

and access perspective. 3 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 4 

  Thank you, Mr. Hammond.  Our next witness 5 

is Richard Fitzpatrick, the Chief Financial Officer of 6 

Wimar Tahoe Corporation. 7 

  MR. FITZPATRICK: 8 

  Thank you, Ray.  Good morning, Mr. 9 

Chairman and Board members.  We are very pleased to 10 

have recently completed the purchase of Tropicana 11 

Pennsylvania, LLC and its assets from Aztar 12 

Corporation, and we're moving forward on our 13 

acquisition of Aztar Corporation itself. 14 

  We believe that the combined strengths of 15 

Wimar Tahoe Corporation and Aztar Corporation are the 16 

perfect fit for the Lehigh Valley.  We provide a 17 

larger, stronger applicant that is uniquely qualified 18 

to provide a critical economic spark for Allentown and 19 

the Lehigh Valley.   20 

  I am here today to assure you that 21 

financing for the development of Lehigh Valley 22 

Tropicana is locked in and ready to go.  We have a 23 

commitment from Bank of America and Wachovia Bank in 24 

the form of a $275 million senior secured loan, 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

45  45 

including a $265 million five-year term facility and a 1 

$10 million five-year revolving credit facility.  We 2 

have representatives of Bank of America and Wachovia 3 

Bank here with us today if you have any questions. 4 

  In addition, Wimar Tahoe Corporation's 5 

making an $87 million equity commitment, including 6 

$76.2 million in cash, and $10.8 million of equity 7 

investment in the land and development cost at the 8 

Allentown site.   9 

  This cash equity commitment is 10 

underwritten by a further commitment by Columbia 11 

Sussex Corporation.  The total funding of $352 million 12 

provides for full funding of the $325 million in 13 

development costs, plus the financing costs, interest 14 

reserves and operating working capital for the 15 

facility.  Perhaps, most importantly, we are putting 16 

our combined company's good names and reputations 17 

firmly behind this project and are guaranteeing its 18 

completion. 19 

  We have isolated the Tropicana 20 

Pennsylvania entities from any obligations, other than 21 

the development and operation of this project in 22 

Allentown.  And it will not guarantee any of the Wimar 23 

Tahoe Company's obligations.  24 

  In short, the financing arrangements for 25 
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this project are in place, and are a positive for this 1 

development.  Thank you for your time. 2 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 3 

  Thank you.  Our next witness is James 4 

Brown, president and general manager of Casino Aztar 5 

Evansville in Evansville, Indiana.  Mr. Brown has 20 6 

years gaming experience with Aztar alone, including 7 

two years with the Tropicana in Atlantic City and has 8 

run Casino Aztar Evansville since it opened in 1995.  9 

He has been Chairman of the Casino Association of 10 

Indiana since 2002.  11 

  MR. BROWN: 12 

  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, and members 13 

of the Board.  In keeping with our theme of the 14 

perfect fit, I would like to take just a few minutes 15 

to discuss the relevant operational experience that we 16 

can bring to the Lehigh Valley.   17 

  This relevant experience includes our 18 

success at Casino Aztar in Evansville, Indiana, which 19 

I have been running since its opening in 1995.  As the 20 

first casino in Indiana, our rolling 12-month total 21 

win surpassed $100 million within our first year of 22 

operation and has resumed its steady rise since the 23 

market stabilized in 2002, after absorbing the opening 24 

of nine other Indiana gaming facilities.  These 25 
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numbers are particularly notable, because our initial 1 

investment was $120 million, and we operate in the 2 

smallest gaming market in the State of Indiana.   3 

  Anyone knowledgeable in the gaming 4 

industry can tell you that total gaming revenue 5 

relevant to market size is a vastly superior measure 6 

of operational success than the win per slot unit 7 

number cited by a representative of the Las Vegas 8 

Sands last week. 9 

  Win per unit is a somewhat arbitrary 10 

figure that depends primarily upon how many machines 11 

an operator elects to carry.  Assuming, however, that 12 

win per unit has any relevance here, I note that our 13 

win per unit at Casino Aztar for each of the last 14 

three years has been higher than the win per year at 15 

the Venetian.   16 

  The more time I devote to our Lehigh 17 

Valley project, the more similarity I see between 18 

Allentown today and Evansville ten years ago.  Like 19 

Evansville then, Allentown today is an ailing city 20 

with just over 100,000 people that desperately needs 21 

an economic catalyst to boost its finances and create 22 

employment opportunities. 23 

  I can testify from personal experience 24 

that our proposed casino can be that very catalyst, 25 
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just as it was in Evansville. 1 

  Casino Aztar has had a direct and 2 

dramatic impact on the Evansville economy throughout 3 

the last decade.  We have provided investment, created 4 

employment, enhanced tourism, created tax revenues, 5 

supported local businesses and maintained a high level 6 

of community involvement. 7 

  This has not been strictly limited to 8 

mandatory efforts.  These benefits have been maximized 9 

by a passionate and unwavering commitment to our local 10 

community and state. 11 

  We are particularly proud to be providing 12 

1,200 local residents with good paying jobs, including 13 

benefits, skills training and meaningful opportunities 14 

for advancement.  We have aggressively and 15 

successfully maximized our employment of individuals 16 

from the most economically disadvantaged areas of the 17 

Evansville community.  And our minority workforce, as 18 

a percentage of our total workforce is nearly twice 19 

Vanderburgh County's minority population percentage. 20 

  In addition to employment, Casino Aztar 21 

in Evansville has substantially enhanced regional 22 

tourism.  In fact, a study completed for the 23 

Evansville Convention and Visitor's Bureau concluded 24 

that in one year alone, visitors to our facility spent 25 
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over $92 million in Vanderburgh County, exclusive of 1 

their spending at Casino Aztar. 2 

  We continue to work hand-in-hand with our 3 

Convention and Visitor's Bureau, as well as the local 4 

hospitality industry to ensure that regional tourism 5 

benefits are maximized. 6 

  We have honored our commitment in 7 

Evansville to purchase goods and services locally and 8 

to support minority and women-owned businesses.  To 9 

date, we have made the majority of our purchases from 10 

local firms and have exceeded even our own ambitious 11 

goals for purchases from minority and women-owned 12 

businesses.   13 

  And in instances where there were no 14 

suppliers for a specific good or service, we have 15 

conscientiously assisted in the creation and 16 

development of real viable business entities and have 17 

mentored and developed ongoing relationships with 18 

these firms. 19 

  It is also a source of great personal 20 

pride to me to be able to look around Evansville today 21 

and see the bricks and mortar differences we have made 22 

and continue to make.  A new convention center, a new 23 

river front, new parks, a new downtown school and 24 

learning center, a children's museum, housing 25 
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initiatives, and these are just some of the projects 1 

and initiatives undertaken and funded partially or 2 

entirely through gaming proceeds. 3 

  Our accomplishments have not gone 4 

unnoticed.  We have received numerous awards and other 5 

recognition for our commitment to and accomplishments 6 

in advancing minority enterprises, enhancing tourism 7 

and identifying and preventing compulsive gambling. 8 

  We have received 11 separate awards from 9 

the United Way alone since 1997.  And I'm pleased to 10 

note that the metropolitan Evansville Chamber of 11 

Commerce recently named its Evansville business of the 12 

year for 2006. 13 

  Three mayors have held office in 14 

Evansville during the decade that we have been in 15 

business there.  All three signed a letter to 16 

Allentown Mayor Ed Pawlowski offering unqualified 17 

praise for our contributions to the community and 18 

attesting to our outstanding corporate citizenship and 19 

honoring of all our promises and commitments to the 20 

city.   21 

  We are ready, willing and able today to 22 

make the same difference in Allentown that we made in 23 

Evansville.  And to that end, I am pleased to confirm 24 

for the Board that after the merger, I will remain 25 
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with the new company with the mandate to personally 1 

ensure the success of our proposed Lehigh Valley 2 

facility. 3 

  I assure you that.  In addition to 4 

ensuring that revenue and applicable tax revenues are 5 

maximized, community involvement will be among my 6 

highest priorities in the Lehigh Valley, just as it 7 

has been in Evansville. 8 

  As I reported last April, one of our 9 

first orders of business in undertaking this project 10 

was to reach out to the many local community and civic 11 

associations and organizations in Allentown, many of 12 

whom attended the public input hearing to support our 13 

application. 14 

  As the Board is aware, there will always 15 

be a segment of any community that opposes gaming on 16 

moral or religious grounds, but I am pleased to note 17 

that we have not engendered any of the organized 18 

opposition that has emerged in Bethlehem with respect 19 

to the Sands Bethworks project. 20 

  We have recently demonstrated that we are 21 

prepared to put our money where our mouth is and take 22 

immediate action when it comes to helping a local 23 

community.  I have with me today a declaration that we 24 

executed with the City of Allentown on November 30th, 25 
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2006.  By that declaration, we committed upon 1 

completion of our facility to contribute $1.25 million 2 

toward the purchase of a new ambulance for the 3 

Allentown EMS, a new ladder fire engine for the 4 

Allentown Fire Department and the construction of a 5 

new police substation on the east side of the city. 6 

  To contribute $500,000 over five years to 7 

local service agencies identified by the city to pay 8 

for programs to treat gambling addiction and to 9 

establish an internal affordable housing fund of 10 

$250,000 to assist employees of Tropicana to become 11 

homeowners in the city.   12 

  We accept and invite the board to make 13 

our fulfillment of these commitments contained in this 14 

declaration a condition of our Category 2 license.  15 

  I would like to close today with another 16 

point about experience.  Before beginning my tenure in 17 

Evansville, I had the benefit of spending seven years 18 

in Atlantic City, including two years at our Tropicana 19 

property, as well as spending seven years of my career 20 

in Nevada. 21 

  With that basis for comparison, I can 22 

assure the Board that the expectations and commitment 23 

demanded by a single facility jurisdiction, like 24 

Evansville or the Lehigh Valley are a world apart from 25 
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the demands of an international gaming destination, 1 

such as Atlantic City, Las Vegas or Macau. 2 

  When the state opens its doors to limited 3 

gaming, as Pennsylvania has done, it needs an operator 4 

who knows how to maximize broad-based benefits to the 5 

local community.  It needs an operator who will not 6 

only provide direct economic benefits, such as tax 7 

revenues, payroll and employment, but who will 8 

purchase locally, give generously and make a real 9 

difference in the community and to the Commonwealth. 10 

  Our competition at Las Vegas Sands has no 11 

experience with this situation or with this market.  12 

In contrast, Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, I can 13 

say to you today under oath that I have been there, 14 

and I have done that, and we are prepared and willing 15 

to do it again in the Lehigh Valley.  And I thank you 16 

very much for your time this morning. 17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  We're going to take a quick break at this 19 

point. 20 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 21 

  Okay. 22 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 23 

  Thank you. 24 

SHORT BREAK TAKEN 25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  We're going to reconvene.  Thank you. 2 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 3 

  Thank you.  Our next witnesses will be 4 

our economics and urban planning experts, Stephen 5 

Mullin and Tracy Dandridge.  Mr. Mullin, to my left 6 

has his Master's in Economics from the University of 7 

Pennsylvania.  His relevant experience includes two 8 

years as finance director for the City of Philadelphia 9 

and six years as budget director for the City of New 10 

Orleans.  Mr. Dandridge for whom I will momentarily 11 

vacating my seat, has his Master's in City Planning 12 

from the University of Pennsylvania.  He is a 13 

geographic information systems, or GIS, specialist and 14 

coordinates GIS resources for city planners and other 15 

city agencies. 16 

  MR. MULLIN: 17 

  Thank you, Ray.  Good morning, Mr. 18 

Chairman, and members of the Board.  The Lehigh Valley 19 

Tropicana project presents a unique opportunity for 20 

the Board to locate a regional asset to maximize 21 

overall economic and fiscal benefits to both Allentown 22 

and Bethlehem as well as to the Lehigh Valley and the 23 

whole Commonwealth. 24 

  Optimal intrametropolitan investment 25 
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location decisions are the elusive holy grail of state 1 

and local economic development policy.  Since regional 2 

jurisdictions fighting amongst each other to locate 3 

businesses and investment tend to minimize overall 4 

benefits to the region.  Significantly, the 5 

jurisdictions here have already developed a  6 

tax-sharing mechanism, which is the other component of 7 

that economic development holy grail. 8 

  It is clear that both Allentown and 9 

Bethlehem face real fiscal and economic challenges. 10 

However, the Lehigh Valley Tropicana proposal for the 11 

Agere site in Allentown is preferable to the Bethlehem 12 

proposal from the perspectives of, one, urban 13 

planning, two, municipal fiscal policy in urban 14 

revitalization, and three, maximizing regional 15 

economic development. 16 

  Tracy Dandridge will address the urban 17 

planning side, and then I will outline the fiscal and 18 

economic development issues that we believe make the 19 

Tropicana the perfect fit for the Lehigh Valley.  20 

Tracey. 21 

  MR. DANDRIDGE: 22 

  Thank you, Steve.  Good morning, Mr. 23 

Chairman, members of the Board.  We conducted an 24 

activities systems analysis of the Lehigh Valley 25 
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Tropicana project, both independently and in 1 

comparison to the Sands Bethworks project.   2 

  In the language of urban planning 101, 3 

activities systems analysis is a recognized  4 

activity-based approach to urban planning that 5 

involves considering the connection between physical, 6 

environment and quality of life.  Basically, you want 7 

to make development consistent with the economic and 8 

social needs of residences. 9 

  For purposes of our activity systems 10 

analysis, we examined the Lehigh Valley Tropicana and 11 

the Sands Bethworks with respect to social, economic 12 

development potential, compatibility, appropriateness 13 

and regional significance.  What we found is that the 14 

Tropicana is the perfect fit for the Lehigh Valley 15 

under each and all of these measures. 16 

  Allentown and Bethlehem have directed 17 

their economic growth initiatives towards east 18 

Allentown and the re-use of the Bethlehem Steel land 19 

respectively to spur job growth, tax generation and 20 

urban redevelopment.   21 

  The key difference is that if Sands 22 

Bethworks does not receive a gaming license, the City 23 

of Bethlehem will continue to have the opportunity to 24 

develop the Bethlehem Steel property because of its 25 
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size.  The Bethworks site alone includes 124 acres 1 

that is available for residential, commercial and 2 

institutional uses that are compatible and appropriate 3 

to the existing character of Bethlehem. 4 

  In fact, as the Board heard last week, 5 

this land is already under contract for development 6 

with Barry Gossen (phonetic), irrespective of whether 7 

the Sands Bethworks Casino was built. 8 

  Another 1,600 acres are available in the 9 

Bethlehem commerce to address business location, 10 

expansion and distribution needs.  With or without a 11 

casino, the substantial property can generate tax 12 

growth to Bethlehem as development proceeds. 13 

  In contrast, absent a casino, Allentown's 14 

ability to attract investment on the same scale as 15 

Bethlehem is virtually non-existent.  Unlike 16 

Bethlehem, Allentown is nearly fully developed today. 17 

Indeed, they remain for development that scarcely 500 18 

acres of land, more than 40 percent of which is known 19 

for low-density residential development. 20 

  What the City of Allentown does have, 21 

however, is a substantial existing investment in its 22 

infrastructure with capacity for more.  In particular, 23 

Allentown enjoys a strong road network in aviation 24 

infrastructure, both of which perfectly compliment 25 
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casino gaming.   1 

  Under these circumstances, if the Board 2 

is going to award one Category 2 license in the Lehigh 3 

Valley, the Tropicana is the best choice from the 4 

perspective of socio economic development.   5 

  The same is true for compatibility.  Any 6 

Lehigh Valley casino will depend upon automobiles and 7 

tour bus trips for its patrons.  As Mr. Hammond, the 8 

traffic expert, testified earlier, the Lehigh Valley 9 

Tropicana site is ideal from a traffic and transit 10 

perspective.  By comparison, the Sands Bethworks site 11 

is flatly incompatible with existing condition and 12 

planned long-term improvement of its sole point of 13 

access, Route 412. 14 

  Another urban planning issue we 15 

considered is appropriateness.  To what extent are the 16 

potential quality of life impacts associated with a 17 

gaming facility?  Typically being and including 18 

increased traffic, signage, illumination and extended 19 

hours of operation, consistent with the character of 20 

surrounding land uses.   21 

  There's no question that Lehigh Valley 22 

Tropicana site is more appropriate for a casino, than 23 

is the Sands Bethworks site.  The Tropicana site is 24 

adjacent to a minor league baseball stadium currently 25 
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under construction, surrounded by light industrial 1 

facilities, offices, restaurants and hotels. 2 

  In contrast, the Bethworks site is in 3 

close proximity to residential neighborhoods, 4 

educational facilities and houses of worship, buffered 5 

only by Route 412 and the Lehigh River. 6 

  Finally, as a matter of regional 7 

significance, we concluded that a casino in Allentown 8 

is consistent with the goals, policies and 9 

implementation measures outlined in the Lehigh Valley 10 

comprehensive plan.  A casino in Allentown would have 11 

a more significant impact on the region's tax base and 12 

physical condition than would a casino in Bethlehem. 13 

  Transportation initiatives show that 14 

Allentown has a more adequate road network to handle 15 

employment and tourism growth, compatibility of a 16 

regional significant development of this type 17 

coordinates well with the existing transportation and 18 

land use infrastructure, the potential for revenue 19 

sharing is consistent with the regional comprehensive 20 

plan and State of Pennsylvania gaming legislation.  21 

And the facility will provide employment opportunities 22 

for Allentown's low and moderate-income persons. 23 

  I'll now give it back to Steve Mullin, 24 

who will look at the fiscal and economic development 25 
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conditions of both cities. 1 

  MR. MULLIN: 2 

  Thank you, Tracy.  Allentown's fiscal 3 

condition presents a substantially greater challenge 4 

today, than that as Bethlehem, as indicated by several 5 

measures.  First, based on Allentown's five-year 6 

financial plan developed by Public Financial 7 

Management, the city faces a structural imbalance 8 

between revenue and expenditure growth that is 9 

entrenched and plays out with significant forecasted 10 

deficits in later years. 11 

  Well, fiscal 2006 will be balanced with 12 

one-time revenues and with tough expenditure 13 

adjustments, there are significant expenditure 14 

pressures in the out years, including increasing debt 15 

service requirements, increasing pension payments and 16 

arbitration-awarded salary increases. 17 

  Second, DCED uses a fiscal monitoring 18 

model that examines 26 factors related to a city's 19 

fiscal condition.  Allentown scored among the lowest 20 

in the state for 2005, with more than one-third of 21 

those factors deemed unfavorable.  Third, the verdict 22 

of the rating's agencies has been equally grim.  23 

Allentown's S&P credit rating has been declining since 24 

2003 and was downgraded last year to a BBB-plus.   25 
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  The S&P downgrade reports specifically 1 

cited the city's consecutive years of balanced --- 2 

unbalanced budgets, rising deficits, and, quote, 3 

severely limited revenue enhancement capabilities, end 4 

quote. 5 

  Allentown's credit outlook was declared 6 

negative and remains so today.  By comparison, the 7 

recently downgraded Bethlehem's credit rating was 8 

based solely on low cash reserves, and S&P maintained 9 

Bethlehem's credit outlook as stable, citing, quote, a 10 

solid overall economy, end quote. 11 

  Finally, like the city itself, the 12 

Allentown School District faces greater fiscal 13 

challenges than does its Bethlehem counterpart.  While 14 

the Allentown School District is coterminous to the 15 

city boundaries, the Bethlehem Area School District 16 

includes suburban areas with stronger tax-base growth. 17 

Additionally, the Allentown School District suffers 18 

from a higher student teacher ratio, lower per student 19 

funding and more significant budgetary pressures, as 20 

well as the severely constrained property tax revenue 21 

growth. 22 

  Consistent with its fiscal prospects, 23 

Allentown's economic outlook is substantially bleaker 24 

today than that of Bethlehem.  Whether measured by 25 
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household income, housing prices or the percentage of 1 

families below poverty level, Allentown is decisively 2 

on the losing end. 3 

  Moreover, Allentown enjoys few, if any, 4 

of the alternative opportunities for development that 5 

are currently available to Bethlehem.  Indeed, 6 

exclusive of the entire Bethworks development project, 7 

Bethlehem today boasts more than $1.1 billion in 8 

economic development projects underway or in the 9 

pipeline, with more than 15,000 building permits worth 10 

over $600 million issued during the past five fiscal 11 

years. 12 

  By comparison, Allentown has relatively 13 

few economic development projects underway or 14 

proposed, and the bulk of those are institutional, 15 

reflecting continued weak demand for private 16 

investment. 17 

  Based on all of these factors, our 18 

conclusion is that the Commonwealth's urban 19 

revitalization and urban --- I'm sorry, and economic 20 

development efforts would be best served by locating a 21 

Lehigh Valley casino in Allentown as contrasted with 22 

Bethlehem. 23 

  The Tropicana project will spur economic 24 

development throughout the region and provide a 25 
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solution to the Lehigh Valley's most daunting fiscal 1 

problem, Allentown's structural, fiscal imbalance.   2 

  At the same time, Bethlehem will still 3 

reap many economic and fiscal benefits associated with 4 

gaming, and as noted, retain its own significant 5 

economic development opportunities.  6 

  We respectfully urge the Board to take 7 

advantage of this unique opportunity.  Thank you very 8 

much.   9 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 10 

  Thank you.   11 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 12 

  Thank you.   13 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 14 

  Mr. Chairman, if you'll excuse me, Mr. 15 

Mullin is required to return to Philadelphia, and we 16 

would respectfully request that if the Board has any 17 

questions for him that they be asked at this time if 18 

that's possible.   19 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 20 

  Commissioner Colins? 21 

  MS. COLINS: 22 

  Sir, in the Lehigh Valley, take this 23 

hypothetical, if a casino is built in Allentown, would 24 

there be --- do you foresee any spillover 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

64  64 

revitalization benefit to Bethlehem and then assume 1 

the converse, if the casino is built in Bethlehem, are 2 

there any spillover benefits to Allentown?  3 

  MR. MULLIN: 4 

  I'd answer that on two fronts.  First, on 5 

the fiscal side, since there's a tax base --- since 6 

there's a tax sharing arrangement that's being 7 

developed, there will be a fiscal benefit to the other 8 

city, although it will be clearly smaller than the 9 

host city.  So in that particular case, there will 10 

some spillover benefits actually direct, and on the 11 

economic side and the indirect and induced economic 12 

impacts, it's likely that either one will have impacts 13 

throughout the entire metropolitan area in Lehigh 14 

Valley, but the most direct impacts will probably go 15 

to the host city.   16 

  And our point here is that the host city, 17 

the fiscal condition of the host city, between the two 18 

potential host cities, one is in worse shape, so if 19 

you can get both --- if you can get the overall 20 

economic impact for the entire Lehigh Valley, so why 21 

not concentrate the fiscal benefits, the stronger of 22 

the fiscal benefits, on Allentown. 23 

  MS. COLINS: 24 

  Thank you.   25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  Please. 2 

  MR. MARSHALL: 3 

  Thank you.  Are you familiar with the 4 

Bethworks project or the --- you know, the Sands 5 

project? 6 

  MR. MULLIN: 7 

  The Sands project and all the rest of 8 

Bethworks, the entire ---? 9 

  MR. MARSHALL: 10 

  Well, the point is that in Allentown we 11 

have 25 acres, there we have 125 acres.  I realize 12 

that, you know, nobody is in for more than Phase I, 13 

but if you play out, you know, wouldn’t it make sense 14 

--- if the Sands project, as I understand it, is 15 

successful, it will create 125 acres of economic 16 

revitalization.  I mean, it's a grander scale, isn't 17 

it?  Or maybe another way to ask the question, tell me 18 

why that isn't the case. 19 

  MR. MULLIN: 20 

  I think if --- my answer to that would be 21 

if it were all built out, it would certainly be a 22 

grander scale.  There is a question.  I would say two 23 

things.  One is the ultimate timing and the direction 24 

of and the extent of the build-out, number one, and 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

66  66 

number two, I would also note that there are --- the 1 

Bethworks site, part of my answer to the previous 2 

Commissioner's question there, is I think that there 3 

will be economic development spin-off, even with the 4 

casino in Allentown for the Bethworks site there, too, 5 

so you can sort of get --- can move forward on both 6 

fronts. 7 

  MR. MARSHALL: 8 

  I understand.  I guess what I'm having 9 

trouble with is let's say both of them reach their 10 

maximum potential.  What happens in Allentown?  11 

Doesn’t it sort of get stopped at the 25-mile sort of 12 

fence? 13 

  MR. MULLIN: 14 

  I wouldn’t necessarily --- from sort of 15 

an urban revitalization point of view, I wouldn’t 16 

necessarily think that at all.  I would think that, I 17 

mean, you're right that that physical space there, but 18 

the spin-off could go --- you're not far from 19 

downtown.  The spin-off could be significant, even if 20 

it's not exactly adjacent. 21 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 22 

  And Commissioner Marshall, I would just 23 

note for the record that Mr. Ruden's testimony earlier 24 

was that although we currently own 24 acres, there is 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

67  67 

additional land open acreage surrounding that's 1 

available, so we are I don’t think actually going to 2 

be stopped at the 24, 25-mile fence.  I don’t know how 3 

much further we're going to go out, but we're going  4 

--- we can beyond there if the situation warrants. 5 

  MR. MARSHALL: 6 

  You see my point, you know, and again 7 

it's very difficult because every one of these 8 

applications has Phases I through XVII, and we all, 9 

you know, focus on XVII, but nobody commits past I.  10 

So I'm not sure how we make that decision going 11 

forward.  But speculating that, none of us can predict 12 

the future, but if this really is that thing, that 13 

driver that gets a --- is it sort of --- so you think 14 

you can get sort of the same maximum benefit under 15 

either proposal? 16 

  MR. MULLIN: 17 

  I do want to note that when I say maximum 18 

benefit, I'm talking about to the entire Lehigh Valley 19 

and not limited to the two sites.  Can you, even if 20 

there's more, if the acreage is doubled at the Agere 21 

site or around there, can you fit more stuff on 125 22 

acres than you could 50, 75 acres?  I think the answer 23 

to that is always yes.  But the real, true economic 24 

impact of this is how that actually picks up and 25 
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induces development and interest in real estate and 1 

development and activity elsewhere in the metropolitan 2 

area and elsewhere in each of the cities. 3 

  MR. MARSHALL: 4 

  Thanks. 5 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 6 

  Any other questions? 7 

  MR. RIVERS: 8 

  Yes.  Before you leave, so therefore what 9 

you're telling us is that Allentown is in more dire 10 

straights than Bethlehem and that if we located it in 11 

Allentown, everybody benefits because Bethlehem is 12 

still going to have, because of their location and 13 

whatever else they bring to the table, they're still 14 

going to flourish, so therefore, everyone wins.  If we 15 

located it in Bethlehem, Allentown suffers? 16 

  MR. MULLIN: 17 

  Yes. 18 

  MR. RIVERS: 19 

  Okay.  Thank you. 20 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 21 

  Well put.   22 

  MR. MULLIN: 23 

  Okay.  You summarized four pages of my 24 

testimony.  Thank you. 25 
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  MR. MARSHALL: 1 

  Can I just --- it's not that it suffers. 2 

It doesn’t have the opportunity. 3 

  MR. MULLIN: 4 

  Yes.  It does not get the opportunity.  5 

Our argument here is that Allentown's fiscal condition 6 

is one of the big drawbacks for the entire Lehigh 7 

Valley's economic growth, and this is an opportunity 8 

to not only get the economic stimulus from a casino 9 

and development that will spin off from that in either 10 

jurisdiction, and even outside of either of the two of 11 

those jurisdictions, but it will also directly address 12 

Allentown's fiscal structural imbalance. 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 14 

  Okay.  Any other questions?  Thank you 15 

very much. 16 

  MR. MULLIN: 17 

  Thank you. 18 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 19 

  Our next witness is the Honorable Ed 20 

Pawlowski, the Mayor of the City of Allentown.   21 

  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 22 

  Good morning.  First off, let me 23 

apologize.  I've been struggling with a cold all week 24 

and despite my best efforts to shake this bug before 25 
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today, I've been unsuccessful.   1 

  I'd be more than happy to answer some of 2 

the questions or respond to some of the questions that 3 

were just previously asked, but let me first give you 4 

some of my opening remarks here regarding this 5 

particular application.  And I welcome this 6 

opportunity to really appear before this Board.   7 

  You know, there is three reasons why I 8 

ask you to award the license to Lehigh Valley 9 

Tropicana.  First, there is virtually unanimous 10 

community and local business support for this project. 11 

Second, this location better serves the Lehigh Valley 12 

market, and third, in close alignment with the stated 13 

objectives and the spirit of Act 71, our community 14 

economic needs, as you just heard, in Allentown, far 15 

outweigh those of other competing municipalities. 16 

  Now, the Board is certainly the final 17 

judge of where a community stands on each application, 18 

but I submit that the record in our case is 19 

extraordinarily compelling.  I'd like to think that 20 

the overwhelming support was attributable in part to 21 

the formalized written community impact agreement that 22 

we reached with the applicant before I announced my 23 

endorsement of this project.   24 

  Back in February, I traveled to 25 
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Evansville to view Tropicana's operation firsthand.  1 

What I heard and experienced has shaped my opinion of 2 

the operator to this very day.  This trip led to a 3 

binding agreement between Tropicana and the city, 4 

which addresses key areas of public safety, quality 5 

jobs for local people, resources to aggressively deal 6 

with the issue of compulsive gambling and funds to 7 

increase home ownership within the community.   8 

  Whether it was in public meetings before 9 

City Council, our various review committees, our 10 

planning commission, there were no objectors to the 11 

Lehigh Valley Tropicana project.  This is probably one 12 

of the only, if not the only, application before you 13 

that can claim such overwhelming community support.   14 

  As I understand one of the key economic 15 

development objectives of the Gaming Act is to draw 16 

people from outside of the host city into the site.  17 

You have heard from Tropicana's traffic experts 18 

concerning the superior access into Allentown, but I 19 

also want the Board to know that this area has been 20 

targeted for future economic development, including 21 

entertainment uses.   22 

  We amended our zoning code before 23 

Tropicana announced its acquisition of the land in our 24 

city.  The State/County funded baseball stadium next 25 
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to the Tropicana site is the first project to truly 1 

take advantage of that new zoning classification, but 2 

unfortunately the project will be tax exempt and the 3 

franchise, these lease payments, are going to the 4 

county to pay off the bonds for the cost of 5 

construction.   6 

  And as a result, Allentown does not 7 

envision any significant revenue benefits from the 8 

stadium or from baseball being located within our 9 

city.  The truth is that there isn't any project that 10 

approaches the private investment and immediate impact 11 

that the Lehigh Valley Tropicana will bring to 12 

Allentown.  That project with its casinos,  13 

full-service Marriott Hotel, conference centers, 14 

restaurants, nightclubs, will draw both gamers and 15 

non-gamers to this site.   16 

  And we are prepared to leverage 17 

Tropicana's investment to attract more development 18 

into this area.  We plan to funnel people from this 19 

entertainment district, entire downtown, Hamilton 20 

Street corridor, through an American Parkway Bridge 21 

connector.  This bridge will provide a direct and 22 

improved link to our downtown business and 23 

entertainment district.   24 

  Our established hotels on Hamilton Street 25 
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will see improved spillover from business from the 1 

Marriott.  Our restaurants will benefit from people 2 

looking for a different dining experience and our 3 

retailers will pick up more traffic.   4 

  In short, the Tropicana really is the 5 

perfect fit for Allentown.  It is surrounded by 6 

convenient access routes.  It's scaled to maximize 7 

casino revenue benefits for the Commonwealth and it is 8 

neatly integrated into the host city's residential and 9 

commercial development plans.  The bottom line, but, 10 

is that Allentown needs this project.   11 

  I'm finishing my first year as Mayor and 12 

I stepped into a financial situation that was far 13 

darker than I ever imagined.  While my team and I have 14 

worked hard and made some tough, unpleasant budget 15 

decisions this year, we have some daunting long-term 16 

challenges.   17 

  The combination of back-loaded debt 18 

service obligations of the municipal worker contracts 19 

will lead to a significant budget deficit by fiscal 20 

year 2009.  We project our deficit to be as large as 21 

12 percent of our operating budget by 2010.   22 

  Our population is growing, but the city's 23 

revenues are not nearly keeping pace with the demand 24 

for city services.   25 
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  Our school district, one of the largest 1 

in the state, the third largest school district in the 2 

state, is also struggling under the strain of flat 3 

real estate property tax base.  We simply don’t have 4 

enough rateables generating enough tax revenue to 5 

address our growing needs.   6 

  The Lehigh Valley has suffered the loss 7 

of many businesses in recent years, and in Allentown, 8 

while we have not suffered the catastrophic loss of a 9 

single employer, we have lost all three major retail 10 

department stores in our downtown devastating our 11 

downtown business district, Mack Truck has 12 

discontinued manufacturing operations, estimating over 13 

15,000 jobs have been lost over the past several 14 

decades and Agere, on whose former site the Tropicana 15 

will sit, laid off thousands of employees within the 16 

last several years and last week announced it has been 17 

purchased by a California company, fueling speculation 18 

that it will leave the area completely.   19 

  Our aggregate losses are similar to the 20 

losses suffered by our neighbor.  In short, Allentown 21 

needs these jobs.   22 

  And as I talked to you back in April, I 23 

stated that it's not just about saving an industrial 24 

site, it is about rebuilding Pennsylvania's third 25 
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largest city.  That's what this application is all 1 

about.   2 

  And while I appreciate the efforts of our 3 

legislators from the Lehigh Valley to share some of 4 

the statutory tax revenue in the event of an award of 5 

a license to the Valley, the benefits are clearly 6 

weighted in favor of the host city as well as it 7 

should be.   8 

  The host city receives 80 percent of the 9 

tax revenues and all of the local tax revenues 10 

generated by the project.   11 

  I cannot overstate the tremendous 12 

positive impact that this revenue stream will have for 13 

the City of Allentown.   14 

  I respect and admire what our colleagues 15 

in Bethlehem have been able to accomplish in this 16 

post-industrial age.  Their economy is now fueled 17 

today by Lehigh University, the Moravian Church, and a 18 

thriving tourist industry of the Christmas city.  And 19 

I would like nothing more than to set the City of 20 

Allentown on the same successful path.  21 

  That is why, Mr. Chairman and members of 22 

the Board, my Christmas wish this year is to have the 23 

benefits of Lehigh Valley Tropicana to help us achieve 24 

this goal.   25 
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  With your help, we can not only rebuild 1 

and revive this great city, we can make it prosperous 2 

again.  Because the Tropicana is not only the perfect 3 

fit for Allentown, it truly is the perfect fit for the 4 

Lehigh Valley.  Thank you. 5 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 6 

  Thank you, Mr. Mayor. 7 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 8 

  Our next witness is Donna More, the 9 

General Counsel of Columbia Entertainment.   10 

  MS. MORE: 11 

  Thank you.  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, 12 

members of the Board, Ms. Neeb and Staff.  It is my 13 

privilege to address you today as an officer of 14 

Columbia Entertainment and as a member of its 15 

executive management team.   16 

  Perhaps more than anyone you have heard 17 

from in these Lehigh Valley license proceedings, I 18 

have the most empathy for the task upon which you are 19 

embarking.   20 

  When Illinois legalized riverboat 21 

gambling back in 1990, I was appointed as the Gaming 22 

Board's first Chief Legal Counsel, and my team 23 

authored the state's gaming regulations and managed 24 

the process for awarding Illinois' first gaming 25 
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licenses.  The thing that I remember most about those 1 

days was how hard it was to stay footed in reality.   2 

  Gaming is a flashy, high-stakes business. 3 

Sometimes the glare obscures the facts.  The numbers 4 

are big and the promises tend to be bigger, but days 5 

like today helped us a lot because it enabled us to 6 

take a measure of the levelheadedness of the people 7 

who came before us.  It helped us distinguish between 8 

the doers and the talkers and to see if the applicants 9 

had the self-confidence to persuade us on the basis of 10 

their own proposal or if they just had to build up 11 

their project by tearing down the other guy's.   12 

  We always try to settle on the 13 

levelheaded approach, on the doers, the ones who were 14 

confident of their proposal because they had done the 15 

work and they had crunched the numbers to convince us 16 

without flashing signs or inflated metrics that they 17 

were the most productive choice for the taxpayers.  18 

Should you agree that ours is a levelheaded approach, 19 

I cannot take credit for that.   20 

  Bill Yung has been doing business this 21 

way for over 30 years, from the days when the only 22 

business he owned was a coin-operated carwash at the 23 

corner of Columbia and Sussex Avenue in Fort Mitchell, 24 

Kentucky.   25 
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  I will take credit for putting on my 1 

regulatory and prosecutorial sense of judgment to 2 

decide to accept Bill's offer to join his management 3 

team.  When I conducted my investigation, I found a 4 

company that gets it done, and more importantly 5 

Columbia gets it done by doing it right.  And that is 6 

why I am here.   7 

  People who know me know that doing it 8 

right is very important to me, and I can't shake my 9 

background as a state and federal prosecutor, and it's 10 

important to me not to allow an inaccurate record to 11 

stand, so I must take a minute to correct some of the 12 

misstatements that I have heard regarding our project. 13 

  First, we do have land use approval.  14 

Other than the need for a traffic signal, the 15 

conditions that the Sands referred to are standard, 16 

normal conditions found in land-use permits.   17 

  Second, as you have already heard today, 18 

we have Act II approval.   19 

  Third, the 412 upgrade is not scheduled 20 

to begin until 2009 with a completion date 21 

approximately two years from then, making it virtually 22 

impossible to service the Bethworks facility and to 23 

allow them to achieve their overly-aggressive economic 24 

goals.   25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

79  79 

  Fourth, contrary to the public rumors, I 1 

want to emphatically state here today that no one 2 

connected with the Lehigh Valley Tropicana team has 3 

been involved with or supported, directly or 4 

indirectly, any objector group to the Bethlehem 5 

project.   6 

  Five, the Sands stated that their 7 

experience in --- that they had experience in smaller 8 

markets and they cited a project that they had done in 9 

Aurora, Illinois.  Aurora was one of the four Chicago 10 

land licenses that we awarded to service a market of 11 

9-plus million people.  When I heard that, I chuckled 12 

and I thought that I would go home and tell me former 13 

boss, who is now the current Mayor of the City of 14 

Chicago, Mayor Daley, that he's actually the mayor of 15 

a small town.   16 

  Finally, the preliminary land approval 17 

for the Sands contains, in addition to the usual 18 

conditions, seven specific requirements, some of which 19 

I feel must be identified for you today.   20 

  First, they need FAA approval.   21 

  Second, agreements which are not now 22 

existing with the National Museum of Industrial 23 

History, ArtsQuest, PBS 39, Northampton Community 24 

College and the Bethlehem Economic Development 25 
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Corporation, and in addition, in the letter that the 1 

Bureau of Planning sent to the Sands on October 30th 2 

provided the following, and I just want to read this 3 

paragraph.  I think it's very important.  All comments 4 

contained in this letter are based upon preliminary 5 

plan dated October 6th of 2006.  Since the plans are 6 

just general representation of the proposed site, it 7 

is impossible to generate a more detailed comment at 8 

this time.   9 

  Once more detailed plans are submitted, 10 

more in depth comments will be generated and approval 11 

is expressly conditioned upon the compliance with 12 

these comments which will be based on the content of 13 

the detailed plans and current requirements of 14 

municipalities, planning code and ordinances 15 

applicable thereto.   16 

  In short, the Venetians land plan is not 17 

close to approval.  This lack of transparency only 18 

heightens concerns of an already troubled community.  19 

As General Counsel for the company, I am, among other 20 

things, responsible for compliance, diversity and 21 

community affairs.   22 

  Jim Brown has already addressed the 23 

latter on an operating level.  I am here to assure you 24 

that our community mission starts at the top where it 25 
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will have a prominent voice, my voice, at the 1 

executive committee level of this company.   2 

  The general manager of the Lehigh Valley 3 

Tropicana will be charged with creating and 4 

maintaining meaningful participation with the City of 5 

Allentown.  That person will be held accountable for 6 

identifying community needs and involving us in the 7 

process of allocating appropriate resources.   8 

  This top-down approach also applies to 9 

our compliance and diversity programs as well.  My 10 

background and gender notwithstanding, these two 11 

functions occupy priority status at Columbia 12 

Entertainment.   13 

  On the compliance side, our management 14 

team is of one mind.  We will conform to the best 15 

practices of the industry.  In keeping with that goal, 16 

we are institutionalizing new compliance processes and 17 

procedures throughout our organization.   18 

  That means that the Lehigh Valley Trop 19 

will be subject to compliance standards on par with 20 

casinos in New Jersey and Nevada.   21 

  In addition, we are eager to work with 22 

your staff to conform to all aspects of Pennsylvania's 23 

compliance, compliance training and problem gaming 24 

requirements.  Our plan is to import our successful 25 
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and award-winning problem gaming treatment program 1 

from our property in Evansville.   2 

  We are also hosting a training session 3 

next month, which we have invited nearly 2,000 mental 4 

health professionals in the Lehigh Valley to help them 5 

identify early signs of problem gaming.  And we have 6 

pledged $500,000 to the City of Allentown over and 7 

above what is required by law to help them address 8 

this issue.   9 

  We want to help you build and maintain 10 

the public trust that enables our industry.  The 11 

bottom line is we don’t see compliance as a burden.  12 

We see it as good business.   13 

  I have lived the diversity issue 14 

throughout my entire professional career.  I have been 15 

the only female equity partner at a Chicago law firm. 16 

I have been the only female member of a publicly 17 

traded board of directors and I have been the head of 18 

my own women-owned business.   19 

  In each instance, my observation is that 20 

diversity programs are effective when top management 21 

not only talks the talk but walks the walk, and at 22 

Columbia I am just one piece of evidence that we are 23 

asking our workforce to do as we do.   24 

  We will also enhance minority vendor 25 
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programs, minority hiring and promotion programs, 1 

minority training and employment assistant programs 2 

and workforce development programs to provide the 3 

diversity template for our operations here in 4 

Pennsylvania.   5 

  On one level, my job is to make sure that 6 

that template is followed.  At a higher level, my job 7 

is at the management table to ensure the decision-8 

making has a diversity component.  Put another way, we 9 

all know that overcoming diversity challenges often 10 

comes down to the simple act of an owner or a boss 11 

investing their confidence in qualified candidates 12 

like Bill Yung did when he hired me.  And that's the 13 

kind of diversity program we have filed with you and 14 

we will implement at the Lehigh Valley Tropicana. 15 

  Before I turn the podium over to Mr. 16 

Yung, I want to say another word or two about him and 17 

about what an extraordinary businessman he is.  18 

Columbia Entertainment is affiliated with 19 

Columbia/Sussex Corporation, one of the nation's 20 

leading hotel companies.  Both companies are owned by 21 

Bill Yung.   22 

  You have heard that he is the largest 23 

full service franchisee for Marriott Hotels in the 24 

United States, and he insists on quality service and 25 
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has remarkable attention to detail.  Before I joined 1 

Columbia a few months ago, Bill was my client, and as 2 

a result of that relationship I got to know a man who 3 

is much more than the gruff, hard-driving entrepreneur 4 

that his competitors and the media characterize him 5 

as.  What draws many of us to him, and what drew me to 6 

him, is his directness, his decisiveness and most of 7 

all his integrity, so it is my pleasure today to 8 

introduce you to our President and CEO, Bill Yung. 9 

  MR. YUNG: 10 

  Good morning.  Thank you, Donna.  Thank 11 

you for giving us the chance to tell you about our 12 

plan for the Lehigh Valley Tropicana.   13 

  I have been excited about this project 14 

from the very first day we considered buying Aztar and 15 

everything we have learned since about the projects, 16 

the economics, the community, has reinforced my first 17 

impressions.  So I want to begin by thanking my 18 

colleagues.  I found their presentation compelling and 19 

to the point, and I hope you did, too.  If nothing 20 

else, it shows what can be accomplished when a 21 

supportive community and a willing and able business 22 

put their heads together and roll up their collective 23 

sleeves to get the job done.  24 

  As the owner of Columbia Entertainment, I 25 
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ask for a few minutes at the end of the presentation 1 

to summarize our commitment to the Commonwealth of 2 

Pennsylvania and the City of Allentown.  And here's 3 

what it boils down to. 4 

  Number one, we pledge to build an 5 

important new economic engine for Allentown with an 6 

anticipated total investment of $575 million and up to 7 

2,100 direct and indirect new jobs.   8 

  Two, we pledge to break ground in January 9 

and have the casino open for business by the end of 10 

the year. 11 

  And three, we pledge to be a standard-12 

setting operator who is an active, responsive and 13 

responsible citizen.   14 

  I don’t know how to be more succinct, but 15 

at the risk of belaboring the points, I hope you will 16 

indulge me if I add a little color from the Columbia 17 

side.  You may have recognized we are a company that 18 

stays on course.   19 

  We analyze the situations and make 20 

decisions.  And the first thing we decided about the 21 

Lehigh Valley Tropicana was to accelerate the 22 

timetable.   23 

  We have lots of experience with 24 

properties of this scale, and we know how to get them 25 
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up and running on time.   1 

  We have done the heavy lifting in advance 2 

in regards to obtaining all the necessary land 3 

development approvals.   4 

  We have the plans to pull a building and 5 

foundation permit now, so if you award us a Category 2 6 

license next week, we will break ground in January and 7 

before the year is out, our casino will be producing 8 

jobs and revenue for the Commonwealth.   9 

  While we are on the subject of scale, 10 

it's worth repeating that Columbia's sweet spot is the 11 

mid-market metropolitan market.  We operate businesses 12 

in these kinds of communities all over the United 13 

States.   14 

  In fact, we are not new to Pennsylvania. 15 

We own three hotels in the Commonwealth.  We built the 16 

Radisson at Philadelphia Airport.  We recently 17 

purchased the Wyndham in downtown Philadelphia, and 18 

are now in the process of remodeling it and upgrading 19 

it to a Sheridan.  And finally, we built the Courtyard 20 

right here in Harrisburg.   21 

  We will draw on that experience to become 22 

an integral part of Allentown's business fabric.  23 

Columbia has arrived at this stage of its business 24 

life not just because of the quality of its projects, 25 
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but because of the quality of its employees.  We've 1 

stuck by that philosophy from the day we built our 2 

first Days Inn, and we're not about to change.   3 

  We will hire the right managers, we will 4 

promote from within and we will urge our employees to 5 

be active in the community.  We will support their 6 

efforts, and we will honor and embrace their 7 

diversity.  8 

  Before we take your questions, I want to 9 

offer words of commendation and gratitude to your fine 10 

Staff.  Because we are buying Aztar, Columbia's 11 

involvement in this process occurred at the 11th hour. 12 

Your Staff accepted and handled the resulting 13 

pressures with extraordinary professionalism and 14 

diligence.  It was an impressive performance. 15 

  Let me close by saying that both Bob 16 

Haddock and I are here asking for the business.  I 17 

believe that Aztar's vision for a Lehigh casino is 18 

rightly placed in Allentown.   19 

  I believe that Columbia has the operating 20 

experience to make that vision come to life.  I can 21 

assure you that we will repay your confidence with a 22 

facility that lives up to the expectations of the 23 

taxpayers of Allentown, Lehigh Valley and the 24 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and we are the perfect 25 
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fit.  Thank you. 1 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 2 

  That concludes our presentation, Mr. 3 

Chairman. 4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 5 

  Thank you very much.  We're going to go 6 

into questions now.   7 

  What questions does the Board have? 8 

  MR. RIVERS: 9 

  Yes.  Mr. Chairman? 10 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 11 

  Please. 12 

  MR. RIVERS: 13 

  Could you --- would you explain to me the 14 

scope of your project and what you consider as Phase I 15 

and the cost of Phase I? 16 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 17 

  Would you prefer to hear it directly from 18 

the Chairman or should we have someone who has been 19 

more actively involved? 20 

  MR. RIVERS: 21 

  Whoever can answer the question the best. 22 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 23 

  Thank you, Commissioner. 24 

  MR. RUDEN: 25 
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  I'd love the opportunity to answer this 1 

question.   2 

  MR. RIVERS: 3 

  I knew you would. 4 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 5 

  He'll do his presentation again if you 6 

want. 7 

  MR. RUDEN: 8 

  I'm not even scripted right now.  So 9 

anyway ---.  The first phase of our project is 100,000 10 

square foot gaming floor that will have an opened-up 11 

with 3,000 slot machine.  It will also have a 250-room 12 

full-service Marriott Hotel.  It will have a showroom. 13 

It will have an executive conference center, which is 14 

something that we are very serious about, in looking 15 

at the Lehigh Valley and in looking at quality meeting 16 

space that's currently available.   17 

  In addition to that, there will be 3,000 18 

covered structured parking spaces, as well as an 19 

additional 400 spaces, so that, in ---. 20 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 21 

  Is that on the big picture?  Would that 22 

be all right?  There was another one that had a 23 

graphic with it and you know, everything up and 24 

finished in the front. 25 
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  MR. RUDEN: 1 

  Oh, you mean the aerial? 2 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 3 

  Yes. 4 

  MR. RUDEN: 5 

  Or the ---? 6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 7 

  Or the frontal view.  There was a frontal 8 

view, I believe. 9 

  MR. RUDEN: 10 

  Elena, do you have that? 11 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 12 

  There you go. 13 

  MR. RUDEN: 14 

  Okay.  And you'll notice the hotel tower, 15 

which obviously sticks out. 16 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 17 

  Sure.  That's Phase I? 18 

  MR. RUDEN: 19 

  That's Phase I. 20 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 21 

  Okay. 22 

  MR. RUDEN: 23 

  And immediately to the right is surface 24 

parking --- 25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  All right. 2 

  MR. RUDEN: 3 

  --- which will be the build-out of Phase 4 

II. 5 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 6 

  Phase II.  Okay.  7 

  MR. RUDEN: 8 

  So --- and then to the left and on what 9 

we call the podium level is the casino.  And then 10 

immediately to the left is the parking garage, and 11 

that is Phase I.  And our estimated project budget for 12 

that phase is $325 million.  However, with financing 13 

costs and working capital, I believe it's up to $352  14 

--- Rich? 15 

  MR. FITZPATRICK: 16 

  $352. 17 

  MR. RUDEN: 18 

  $352.   19 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 20 

  Mr. --- yes, please.  Mr. Marshall. 21 

  MR. MARSHALL: 22 

  Thank you.  Now, so Phase I absolutely 23 

committed to --- 24 

  MR. RUDEN: 25 
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  Absolutely. 1 

  MR. MARSHALL: 2 

  --- finance everything else?  Phase II, 3 

though, then is contingent upon market and what 4 

happens and ---? 5 

  MR. RUDEN: 6 

  Upon economic conditions and ---.  7 

However, though, we would like to, you know, build 8 

Phase II as soon as possible if ---. 9 

  MR. MARSHALL: 10 

  Well, I understand, but what we're trying 11 

to do is get it an apple to an apple to an apple.  So 12 

we're trying to figure out what everybody's got in, 13 

committing ---.  14 

  MR. RUDEN: 15 

  I'm going to let Mr. Yung talk about the 16 

commitment for Phase II. 17 

  MR. YUNG: 18 

  Obviously, we'd like to start Phase II as 19 

soon as it's possible.  I personally, you know, being 20 

in the hotel business primarily, the --- Allentown, as 21 

bad as the economic conditions are, it's actually a 22 

very good hotel market.  And I'd been to Allentown 20 23 

years ago when I tried to build a hotel up here, and I 24 

remember seeing the first one-story Holiday Inn I've 25 
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ever seen in my life out here on the west side of 1 

town.   2 

  But personally, I think that the hotel 3 

market is going to be great.  I think the casino will 4 

do very well and as soon as possible, I have no doubt 5 

the hotel at 500 rooms will do fine on the expansion. 6 

It's just is there enough gaming activity that really 7 

will require putting the other area in there.  And I 8 

think there absolutely will be, but we will do it as 9 

soon as we can.  You know, we're absolutely committed 10 

to the first and will do the second as soon as it's  11 

--- as we're able to do it. 12 

  MR. MARSHALL: 13 

  That's sort of a common response, but as 14 

we try to get where everybody is, and maybe in 15 

entering, why not 5,000 as part of Phase I?   16 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 17 

  By the way, that's not a challenge.  18 

That's a question. 19 

  MR. MARSHALL: 20 

  Yes. 21 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 22 

  You know, we've been asking ourselves 23 

that, and we've asked everybody that just out of 24 

curiosity. 25 
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  MR. YUNG: 1 

  That's a lot of slot machines. 2 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 3 

  Okay.  That's a good answer. 4 

  MR. YUNG: 5 

  3,000, you know, is a whole lot of slot 6 

machines, and I believe, you know, that --- I don’t 7 

know what to tell you, sir.  I think 3,000 is enough 8 

to start, and then we'll go from there. 9 

  MR. MARSHALL: 10 

  And what we're going to be faced with 11 

here, ---. 12 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 13 

  Mr. Haddock would like to respond to that 14 

question. 15 

  MR. HADDOCK: 16 

  If you don’t mind, I'd like to address 17 

that question.  The fact is, 5,000 slot machines is a 18 

huge number.  If you look at our property in Atlantic 19 

City, which has 2,100 hotel rooms and a corridor with 20 

dining and entertainment and clubs and a huge 21 

showroom, I mean that property has 3,400 slot machines 22 

and they are plenty.  So the idea of 5,000 slot 23 

machines, frankly, in any of these facilities that you 24 

are contemplating in Pennsylvania, I think is fanciful 25 
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at best.  In the event someday that the legislature 1 

decides to enable other forms of gaming, then I think 2 

the kinds of expansions that were originally 3 

envisioned here and probably in other projects, too, 4 

would be very doable, but to build the casino floor of 5 

this prospective size to accommodate 5,000 slot 6 

machines would be an uneconomic proposition. 7 

  MR. MARSHALL: 8 

  And there, I guess, you framed the issue 9 

for us because if I recall the Sands testimony, they 10 

commit to getting to 5,000.  They're going to go to 11 

5,000 in a year.  12 

  MR. HADDOCK: 13 

  God bless those people. 14 

  MR. MARSHALL: 15 

  Well, God bless us all, every one. 16 

  MR. HADDOCK: 17 

  But the fact, I mean, I think that some 18 

of the things that Donna said before about, you know, 19 

it's easy to make promises and it's easy to say 20 

things, but you have to look at the economic realities 21 

and the markets that we're in.  And there have been 22 

innumerable studies that have been done with the 23 

exception of the Venetian studies that have said this 24 

is a market that is essentially a $275 million slot 25 
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machine revenue generating market.  You cannot --- you 1 

can put 5,000 slot machines in, but you're not going 2 

to generate more than the market is capable of 3 

generating.  That's just the reality of our business. 4 

  MR. MARSHALL: 5 

  Can I just finish this just and then I 6 

have one other one.  But Mr. Sinclair, though, 7 

suggested in his testimony he rolls it out to 5,000. 8 

  MR. HADDOCK: 9 

  I can't address what Mr. Sinclair said.  10 

I don’t know what he said.  I don’t remember what he 11 

said. 12 

  MR. MARSHALL: 13 

  Do I have that right? 14 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 15 

  No.   16 

  MR. MARSHALL: 17 

  Okay. 18 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 19 

  We never mentioned the number of machines 20 

in the testimony today. 21 

  MR. MARSHALL: 22 

  Then how did you get the 37 -- 300 ---? 23 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 24 

  That's based upon the demand in the 25 
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market.  Now, what --- at 3,000 machines, if that was 1 

an unattainable amount, let's say like we would get 2 

into win per unit per day.  There's only so many times 3 

the handle on a slot machine can be pulled on a given 4 

day.  So as you start to get resistance at around $500 5 

per machine per day, it just happens on a Friday, 6 

Saturday, night, you walk through the door, you can't 7 

find a machine.  We didn’t have to do that in this 8 

case, so we didn’t ratchet the numbers back.  We're 9 

presuming 3,000 machines at this facility. 10 

  MR. MARSHALL: 11 

  But how did you get then from $275 to 12 

$346 ---? 13 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 14 

  $340.  That's based upon demand in the 15 

market and growth over time.  We start from a base, 16 

which is actually year three --- 17 

  MR. MARSHALL: 18 

  Right. 19 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 20 

  --- because it takes time for properties 21 

to develop in the market.  We discount that in the 22 

first two years, and then we assume that the market is 23 

relatively mature at year three, and then we assume a 24 

growth rate of about three to four percent, which is 25 
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consistent with growth in observed gambling markets.  1 

And that's how you'd get to about $340 million in year 2 

five.   3 

  MR. MARSHALL: 4 

  And then my last question, which is I 5 

guess not directed to you, is how do we assure 6 

ourselves or comfort ourselves that as you make a 7 

transaction like this that's going to close in a 8 

couple of weeks, simultaneously with you starting 9 

saying you're going to break ground here and be fast-10 

tracked?  I mean, it's a huge transition.  I mean, is 11 

everybody staying?  Anybody leaving?  Can you kind of 12 

just address that issue? 13 

  MR. YUNG: 14 

  Sure.  About three months ago, we got our 15 

architect to sort of take over on the project and he's 16 

been working full speed on the project ever since then 17 

and we're in a position to pull footing and foundation 18 

permits immediately and the complete plans.  That'll 19 

take a couple months to get through to do the site 20 

work.  By then, the complete plans are expected to be 21 

done by mid-January to get the final building permit. 22 

  MR. MARSHALL: 23 

  You don’t see a problem with the --- any 24 

negative problems with the transition as you buy 25 
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Aztar? 1 

  MR. YUNG: 2 

  Not as far as this project goes.  We're 3 

used to meeting deadlines.  I mean, I'm meeting a 4 

deadline right now down in the Caribbean Island of St. 5 

Martin.  We've got a casino --- a small casino and a 6 

four or five-star resort Westin that we've got to open 7 

for we have 300 families coming down there in a week, 8 

so we're going to meet that deadline. 9 

  MR. MARSHALL: 10 

  Okay.  Thank you. 11 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 12 

  Please continue. 13 

  MR. ANGELI: 14 

  I want to follow up on one thing, though. 15 

The gaming floor, was it --- 100,000 square feet, is 16 

that the gaming floor or is that the total? 17 

  MR. RUDEN: 18 

  That’s the gaming. 19 

  MR. ANGELI: 20 

  That's just the gaming floor? 21 

  MR. RUDEN: 22 

  That's the gaming. 23 

  MR. ANGELI: 24 

  Okay.  And I may have --- I may not have 25 
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seen this clearly enough, but I noticed there were two 1 

dates.  There was an opening date and then there was a 2 

construction completion date.  Why are they different? 3 

  MR. RUDEN: 4 

  There's an opening date of December of 5 

'07 for the casino.  The entire Phase I will be opened 6 

by September of '08.   7 

  MR. ANGELI: 8 

  Okay. 9 

  MR. RUDEN: 10 

  So you've got the casino open in December 11 

and then with the hotel and some of the other 12 

amenities, all of it will be open in its entirety by 13 

September of '08. 14 

  MR. ANGELI: 15 

  Okay. 16 

  MR. RUDEN: 17 

  The goal was to get the casino opened in 18 

the timeliest manner possible.   19 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 20 

  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  We have just 21 

one point of clarification by Mr. Sinclair with 22 

respect to the earlier testimony. 23 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 24 

  I just thought of, you know, possibly a 25 
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more concise way to answer your question was that, you 1 

know, we look at in terms of the demand in the market. 2 

The only time you would make an adjustment is if the 3 

number of machines was inadequate to service that 4 

demand. 5 

  MR. MARSHALL: 6 

  Right.  And you understand our --- we 7 

want to get that number as high as we can.  Together, 8 

we want to make that happen. 9 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 10 

  Well, you want to get your revenue 11 

numbers as high as you can.  The machines, you don’t 12 

want to ---. 13 

  MR. MARSHALL: 14 

  We want to get the revenues up. 15 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 16 

  Yes, revenue numbers. 17 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 18 

  Right. 19 

  MR. HADDOCK: 20 

  Actually, that was the point that I was 21 

going to make is that the number of machines --- you 22 

can put any number of machines on a casino floor, and 23 

you can have your wins per unit and your fair share 24 

drop to nothing.  That's easy to do.  The real issue 25 
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is how much revenue you can generate, and the fact is 1 

in these days of modern technology and the kinds of 2 

machines that we have, which are multi-denominational, 3 

multi-line, the customer can select different games, 4 

the fact is the normal operator doesn’t need a huge 5 

number of machines.  In fact, many operators, 6 

including ourselves at the Tropicanas, have been 7 

reducing machine count with no impact on revenue.  And 8 

in fact, the new technology and the new games actually 9 

are so exciting to customers that revenue is 10 

increasing even with smaller numbers of units on the 11 

floor.  So this notion of 3,000 units or 5,000 units 12 

as some sort of magic number, Mr. Marshall, is just a 13 

fallacy. 14 

  MR. MARSHALL: 15 

  Focus on revenue. 16 

  MR. HADDOCK: 17 

  I'm sorry? 18 

  MR. MARSHALL: 19 

  Focus on revenue. 20 

  MR. HADDOCK: 21 

  Focus on revenue.  Exactly right. 22 

  MR. MARSHALL: 23 

  Thank you. 24 

  MR. HADDOCK: 25 
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  And with the recognition that in any 1 

market, realistically, there is only a certain amount 2 

of revenue.  You have a certain number of customers. 3 

You have them living within a certain distance from 4 

your facility.  There are other competing facilities. 5 

They live within certain distances from those 6 

facilities and frankly, the algorithm that has been 7 

used in the gaming business over the years to 8 

understand what revenues can be generated is pretty 9 

standard.  I mean, these folks have used it, and we 10 

use it.  Innovations uses it.  It's not rocket 11 

science.  It's surprisingly accurate, and in this case 12 

it's about $275 million out of the box.    13 

  MR. ANGELI: 14 

  As a follow up, when you talked about the 15 

additional areas that you had for expansion, do you 16 

know how many acres that is a possibility and if you 17 

do the expand, does it require a relocation of a 18 

population or anything?  19 

  MR. RUDEN: 20 

  The entire site is 24 acres and the first 21 

phase approximately 13 would be developed and then the 22 

remaining differential would be used for the second 23 

phase, not to mention the fact that there's adjacent 24 

parcels and open acreage near us that has the ability 25 
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to complement and in all likelihood should we be 1 

awarded a license will be developed as an 2 

entertainment district. 3 

  MR. ANGELI: 4 

  And when you talk about affordable 5 

housing, are you looking at putting any affordable 6 

housing in that general location? 7 

  MR. RUDEN: 8 

  No, not at our site at all. 9 

  MR. ANGELI: 10 

  Okay. 11 

  MR. RUDEN: 12 

  What we have is a program where we've 13 

committed $250,000 for our employees to be used in 14 

home ownership.  There's a tremendous amount of 15 

renters in Allentown and what we're trying to do is to 16 

get them from home renters to homeowners.  And the 17 

Mayor could probably more appropriately address that, 18 

but that obviously is beneficial economically to the 19 

city. 20 

  MR. ANGELI: 21 

  Okay.  Just one last question, and that's 22 

the convention center or ---? 23 

  MR. RUDEN: 24 

  Conference center. 25 
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  MR. ANGELI: 1 

  Conference center.  What was the 2 

capacity?  What's its capacity? 3 

  MR. RUDEN: 4 

  Approximately 15,000 square feet.  And we 5 

just built one just like that, you know, a similar one 6 

in Evansville. 7 

  MR. ANGELI: 8 

  Okay.  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 10 

  We'll come down. 11 

  MR. MCCABE: 12 

  I have a couple questions.  To follow up 13 

on Ray's question about your Phase I having --- 14 

really, there's a Phase IA and a IB, opening the 15 

casino and then the hotel. 16 

  MR. RUDEN: 17 

  Uh-huh (yes). 18 

  MR. MCCABE: 19 

  Will the construction of the hotel have 20 

any impact on people coming to the casino?  How are 21 

you going to control that?  22 

  MR. RUDEN: 23 

  No, because it will be --- I mean, the 24 

situation was look where the hotel is actually 25 
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located.  It's not adjacent. 1 

  MR. MCCABE: 2 

  So they're not connected? 3 

  MR. RUDEN: 4 

  Well, they are, but because of its 5 

location, we can strategically construct that hotel 6 

project at the same time without any interference with 7 

the casino traffic.  And we've done this numerous 8 

times. 9 

  MR. MCCABE: 10 

  And then the second question that I've 11 

asked everybody, so to be fair, is what happens to the 12 

property and your project if you don’t get the gaming 13 

license?  What are your intentions to do with the 25 14 

acres that you own or 24 acres you own? 15 

  MR. RUDEN: 16 

  Well, 18 of those 24 acres under our 17 

agreement should we be not successful in getting a 18 

gaming license are going to be sold back to the County 19 

as part of the baseball project.  The remaining six 20 

acres we control, and we would probably in all 21 

likelihood, --- I can't answer for Bill, but obviously 22 

look to sell that and ---. 23 

  MR. MCCABE: 24 

  Well, I heard Mr. Yung say that that 25 
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market, it would be good for hotels.  Would you still 1 

build a hotel on that property? 2 

  MR. YUNG: 3 

  The general market is a very good hotel 4 

market, but a typical hotel, it has better access to  5 

--- not better access, but it usually has a good 6 

highway visibility and back there, you know, you're 7 

about a mile and a half from the highway.  But as far 8 

as going to the second phase of development of the 9 

project, I don’t see any problem in developing the 10 

whole project.  I just don’t know whether you're going 11 

to wind up putting 5,000 machines in the project, but 12 

I --- the restaurants and the hotel in that part of 13 

the facility will just complement the first phase, and 14 

it'll bring more people.  The real good thing about 15 

the hotel business right there is that it's a very 16 

strong business market during the week and hotels 17 

usually die on the weekend.  And that's when the 18 

casino --- you have the demand for the casino rooms, 19 

so it would be a great hotel market for the area. 20 

  MR. MCCABE: 21 

  I have one last question, and I think 22 

it's for your --- the manager in Evansville.  I forgot 23 

your name.  I'm sorry. 24 

  MR. BROWN: 25 
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  Mr. Brown. 1 

  MR. MCCABE: 2 

  Mr. Brown, the Evansville facility is a 3 

riverboat?  I'll wait until you get here.  Let me ask 4 

you, is the facility in Evansville that you're 5 

managing a riverboat casino, or is it a land-based 6 

casino? 7 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 8 

  It's a land-based casino. 9 

  MR. BROWN: 10 

  It is a dockside riverboat casino. 11 

  MR. MCCABE: 12 

  Okay. 13 

  MR. BROWN: 14 

  We have a 250-room hotel, a 1,700-space 15 

parking garage, nine restaurants and lounges, 1,400 16 

slot machines, 50-some table games, 45,000 square feet 17 

of gaming space, an entertainment lounge, and we're 18 

opening a new $40 million expansion later this month, 19 

additional hotel and other amenities. 20 

  MR. MCCABE: 21 

  So the boat doesn’t move? 22 

  MR. BROWN: 23 

  No, it does not move. 24 

  MR. MCCABE: 25 
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  Okay.  What I was going to ask, what is 1 

the difference or the problems that you may have going 2 

from a riverboat-type casino to a land-based casino? 3 

  MR. BROWN: 4 

  None. 5 

  MR. MCCABE: 6 

  It sounds like this is a land-based 7 

casino. 8 

  MR. BROWN: 9 

  It is. 10 

  MR. MCCABE: 11 

  You know, over water. 12 

  MR. BROWN: 13 

  It's a casino that floats.  And actually, 14 

a single-level casino --- we're on three levels, so we 15 

have our own constraints there, three cages and moving 16 

people vertically that, you know, in my gaming 17 

experience before Evansville was in Atlantic City and 18 

in Nevada, and they're no different.  You have 19 

operational issues and challenges wherever you are 20 

based on the facility, but not a difference here. 21 

  MR. MCCABE: 22 

  Thank you. 23 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 24 

  Please. 25 
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  MS. COLINS: 1 

  I don’t know who will answer this 2 

question, but this project is patterned over --- 3 

patterned on the Tropicana Corridor project, and the 4 

one I'm familiar with is the one in Atlantic City, 5 

which was a very successful project for Tropicana 6 

obviously, for Aztar.  And I guess my question is this 7 

Tropicana Corridor model that you're proposing for 8 

Allentown, in this model will there be anyone who had 9 

--- who was influential or who worked on or who was 10 

involved in the Tropicana Corridor project in Atlantic 11 

City working on this one? 12 

  MR. HADDOCK: 13 

  Well, the answer to that is definitely 14 

yes.  Rich Ruden was definitely involved.  Really, all 15 

of the Trop --- you know, the team, if you will, in 16 

Atlantic City, Bill Yung will have --- operating the 17 

property, you know, numerable people there worked on 18 

the project and are available to work on this project 19 

as well.  But you know, the fact is, I think this is a 20 

--- this project is a very manageable project.  It was 21 

the development of the original concept that I think 22 

was so interesting for the Tropicana and its --- the 23 

ability to transfer what I think has been a very 24 

successful concept there in terms of the style and the 25 
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openness, the atmosphere that was created there, I 1 

think will be very easy to do here and Bill Yung is 2 

certainly capable of building it.  You know, one of 3 

the significant differences, obviously, between this 4 

project and the project in Atlantic City is the 5 

project in Atlantic City has many restaurants and many 6 

clubs and many entertainment outlets.  By comparison, 7 

this will have fewer but not insignificant and should 8 

work very well in the size of property that's being 9 

developed here. 10 

  MS. COLINS: 11 

  Well, do you get close to that Tropicana 12 

Corridor concept in the first phase?  I mean, it ---. 13 

  MR. HADDOCK: 14 

  Yes. 15 

  MS. COLINS: 16 

  Does that happen in the first phase? 17 

  MR. HADDOCK: 18 

  Absolutely.  Absolutely.  The whole 19 

interior of the casino, the integration of the dining, 20 

entertainment and retail on the casino floor happens 21 

in the first phase.  We had, I think, submitted to you 22 

previously --- there's a rendering, artist's 23 

rendering, of what it looks like.  It's fully --- and 24 

we fully intend to have that thematic ---. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  Second phase; right? 2 

  MR. HADDOCK: 3 

  In the first phase. 4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 5 

  In the first phase retail?  I thought you 6 

said in the first phase there was no retail. 7 

  MR. HADDOCK: 8 

  Well, no, there's limited retail, but in 9 

terms of restaurant concepts, clubs, the environment, 10 

the theme, that will all be in the first phase and in 11 

the second phase as well.  Did I answer your question 12 

sufficiently? 13 

  MS. COLINS: 14 

  It did.  Thank you.  Thank you very much. 15 

  MR. COY: 16 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  With regard to 17 

Aztar, a point was made of your success in dealing 18 

with organized labor in your other locations.  Are all 19 

the other Aztar locations organized labor situations? 20 

  MR. HADDOCK: 21 

  We have --- our operating employees are 22 

represented by unions in Atlantic City and in Las 23 

Vegas, the two major markets.  Our employees have not 24 

chosen to be represented by unions in our Laughlin 25 
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market and frankly almost the entirety of the market 1 

has no union representation.  There is not a union in 2 

Evansville and there's not a union in Caruthersville, 3 

but the major metropolitan properties, and that 4 

constitutes I would say roughly 60 percent of the 5 

company's employees, are represented by operating 6 

unions.  Don't hold me to that figure, but it's about 7 

that. 8 

  MR. COY: 9 

  Tell me why you think that is, that 10 

there's the difference. 11 

  MR. HADDOCK: 12 

  Well, I think one of the things that 13 

happens, and certainly I think --- let me speak to our 14 

operation in Evansville, and I'll have Jim Brown 15 

comment as well.  I mean, we just do a great job by 16 

way of our employees and they get great pay, they get 17 

great benefits, there's training programs for them, 18 

career advancement programs for them, and I think they 19 

feel, they just don’t feel the need to be represented 20 

by organized labor there.   21 

  MR. COY: 22 

  In the markets where they are, ---. 23 

  MR. HADDOCK: 24 

  I think they've been traditional markets 25 
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where, for whatever reason historically, employees 1 

feel that they need union representation and you know, 2 

our attitude about that has been, it's the employees 3 

that decide.  The fact that we have entered into, in 4 

this project, a neutrality card check agreement with 5 

the Teamsters, indicates that, you know, we're not 6 

going to stand in the way or make it difficult for our 7 

employees to select to be represented by a union if 8 

they choose to.   9 

  MR. COY: 10 

  Okay.  Thank you.  I just want to comment 11 

about the Mayor.  I made a comment with regard to the 12 

Mayor of Bethlehem last week.  I want to tell you, Mr. 13 

Mayor, I found your comments very candid, and I 14 

appreciate that.  I think it's difficult to come to a 15 

State agency or any sort of regulatory agency like 16 

this and sort of say we need your help, and I thought 17 

your comments were very candid, and I appreciated 18 

them, for one. 19 

  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 20 

  Thank you.  We need your help. 21 

  MR. COY: 22 

  You don’t need a straight man, do you?  23 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 24 

  Thank you.  Please. 25 
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  MR. RIVERS: 1 

  I think Jeff does that so he can get an 2 

applause and --- because he's two for two.  Mr. Mayor, 3 

you talked about your city, you talked about your 4 

area, and you talked about the need for help.  Can you 5 

give us some idea as to some of the demographics in 6 

terms of incomes, in terms of number of people?  And 7 

I'd also like for your urban planner to talk about if 8 

we were to draw circles ten miles out, 20 miles out, 9 

50 miles out, 100 miles out, around this area, how 10 

many people are we talking about drawing and coming to 11 

this area? 12 

  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 13 

  Very good questions.  I think there's --- 14 

if I can remember what the questions were.   15 

  MR. RIVERS: 16 

  Pardon? 17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  That will come to the casino? 19 

  MR. RIVERS: 20 

  No, no.  I just want to know the numbers, 21 

the dynamics of the people. 22 

  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 23 

  The dynamics of the area? 24 

  MR. RIVERS: 25 
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  Yeah, not many are going to come to the 1 

casino, the potential draw. 2 

  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 3 

  If you look at the census itself, we have 4 

106,000 population and that makes us number three in 5 

the state.  It's Philadelphia, Pittsburgh and then the 6 

City of Allentown as far as population size.  Off the 7 

record, non-census related because the census is now a 8 

number of years old, we're probably up somewhere in 9 

the range of 110,000 to 115,000 in population size.  10 

27.5 percent of our population is Latino and we have 11 

another 12 percent that's African American on top of 12 

that, so we're approaching probably 40 percent of our 13 

population now at this present time that's minority. 14 

14.6 percent of the families in the city at the moment 15 

live below poverty, so we have a much poorer 16 

population than the rest of the surrounding 17 

municipalities.  And 18.5 percent of individuals live 18 

below poverty according to the last census as well.  19 

So our needs are larger.  What's interesting also when 20 

you look at Allentown, and forgive me, I'm trying to 21 

suck on my cough drop here at the same time, but when 22 

you look at the City of Allentown, the school district 23 

is different than in the City of Bethlehem.  Our 24 

school district is encompassed only by our municipal 25 
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boundaries.  In fact, it doesn’t even encompass the 1 

whole municipal boundary.  Bethlehem's encompasses 2 

some of the surrounding suburban municipalities as 3 

well and so it's a much different dynamic that exists 4 

between the School District of Bethlehem and the 5 

School District of Allentown.  Why is that important? 6 

Well, we have one of the largest school districts and 7 

one of the poorest.  Close to 70 percent of our entire 8 

population is on subsidized lunches.  It's a very 9 

poor, urban school district that's struggling as well. 10 

This project would provide revenue far in excess of 11 

what it can exceed from any other development project 12 

that can occur in the city.  And not only help the 13 

city and its struggling economy, but help the school 14 

district as well.   15 

  The surrounding municipal areas, it's 16 

probably the same as the City of Bethlehem.  If you 17 

look at the geographic area, you're probably talking 18 

about the Lehigh Valley as a whole, about 700,000 to 19 

750,000 people, maybe the whole market that it serves, 20 

close to a million is a number that I've heard, but 21 

Allentown in itself is --- makes up a third of the 22 

entire population of Lehigh County.  It makes up a 23 

sixth of the entire population of Lehigh Valley, and I 24 

have this map on my wall in my office, and it's this 25 
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big map.  It's an aerial photo and it has little red 1 

lines on the map and it shows where all the boundaries 2 

are of the city and how it borders up against 3 

Bethlehem and Salisbury Township and Hanover Township 4 

and Whitehall and South Whitehall and Emmaus and all 5 

these other municipalities that border up against it. 6 

 And one of the things that I usually tell people is 7 

that, you know, I've been out to the streets where 8 

these little red lines are and they're not on the 9 

ground.  There's no imaginary boundary line that 10 

separates poverty or crime or economics from spilling 11 

over into all these other surrounding municipalities. 12 

And so a healthy and prosperous Allentown will equal a 13 

healthy and prosperous Lehigh Valley.  Conversely, a 14 

sick Allentown will equal a sick Lehigh Valley.  You 15 

cannot have the largest municipality in the entire 16 

region sick and not expect it to infect some of the 17 

other surrounding municipalities because we are 18 

literally bound at the hip with the City of Bethlehem. 19 

So no matter how much economic impact happens over 20 

here, if Allentown continues to decline, it will have 21 

a negative impact on the City of Bethlehem and 22 

whatever investment occurs there.  And so I think it's 23 

crucial to look at this in the overall perspective of 24 

how this city could either impact or not impact its 25 
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other surrounding municipalities.  If Allentown 1 

continues to decline, it will be like a huge black 2 

hole sucking down everything else in its path, and 3 

whatever development occurs will have this negative 4 

impact bordering up against it in the City of 5 

Bethlehem.  So for Allentown's success, I think, will 6 

only strengthen the entire region and bring prosperity 7 

to that entire region, and I think that goes against 8 

the question that you were asking earlier.  You know, 9 

how will this impact regionally?  I cannot say the 10 

same for the City of Bethlehem.  It doesn’t have that 11 

same economic impact for the City of Allentown as it 12 

would in the converse situation.  So I don’t know, did 13 

I address all your ---? 14 

  MR. RIVERS: 15 

  Yes, you did.  And I'd like to hear from 16 

Tracy. 17 

  MR. DANDRIDGE: 18 

  And I don’t have the exact numbers on 19 

that, but if you look at the entire metropolitan 20 

statistical area which would include Philadelphia, the 21 

Lehigh Valley region, southern New Jersey, parts of 22 

New York, you're drawing upon probably a population of 23 

about 4.5 million people. 24 

  MR. RIVERS: 25 
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  My reason for asking the question is 1 

because I heard Mr. Yung say this is a good hotel 2 

market, and I'm trying to ascertain as to what's the 3 

big draw to this area? 4 

  MR. DANDRIDGE: 5 

  Specifically, just this location, if you 6 

look at just the site, look at its proximity to the 7 

airports, again which was stated, Route 22 being the 8 

backbone of the region.  This is the central focus.  9 

This is the central business district of the Lehigh 10 

Valley region.  Everything comes through here being 11 

the County seat, so forth and so on. 12 

  MR. RIVERS: 13 

  Thank you. 14 

  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 15 

  And if you look at it in its totality, if 16 

you look at this aerial photo, you will see that 17 

Allentown is actually surrounded by 22, 78 and the 18 

Northeast Extension, so it is sort of sandwiched 19 

between all these major arteries as well as the 20 

regional airport is within minutes of this particular 21 

site.  It is really strategically located in its 22 

location for the Lehigh Valley. 23 

  MR. RIVERS: 24 

  Okay.   25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  I just have a couple questions.  If you 2 

could stay up there, Mr. Mayor, it would be 3 

appreciated.  On the traffic, we seem to have a little 4 

bit of a disagreement between our traffic expert and 5 

yours, not only as to the Bethworks project but 6 

specifically as to yours.  There are some minor 7 

adjustments which I think he recommended.  Where do we 8 

stand on that? 9 

  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 10 

  In what respect? 11 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 12 

  Well, whether there's a need to do 13 

something about --- if there's a casino there, what 14 

happens to the traffic and is there a need to 15 

mitigate?  You know, I'm hearing no, but I'm hearing 16 

him say yes, so maybe you could explain that to me. 17 

  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 18 

  I'm not sure where he's getting that 19 

from.  If you look at the two sites, if you drive out 20 

to these sites ---. 21 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 22 

  Well, don’t --- I'm asking about yours 23 

right now as opposed to Bethworks because we heard 24 

enough about Bethworks. 25 
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  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 1 

  This site is a --- American Parkway is a 2 

four-lane road that connects to Airport Road, which is 3 

a four-lane road. 4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 5 

  Okay.  So there doesn’t need to be any 6 

mitigation at all in this? 7 

  MAYOR PAWLOWSKI: 8 

  No.  I'm not a traffic engineer by any 9 

stretch of the imagination. 10 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 11 

  Maybe you could address that? 12 

  MR. HAMMOND: 13 

  Sure.  There's actually a couple parts 14 

with respect to the mitigation and the differences in 15 

traffic between myself and the Board's reviewer.  16 

First and foremost, I think it's very important, and I 17 

don’t know if the Board has the opportunity to read 18 

any of the responses back based on those review 19 

letters, but it's very important to note that we 20 

looked at a worst-case, highest volume scenario.  21 

Number one, we looked at the employees associated with 22 

Agere.  There are approximately 1,375 employees that 23 

are employed at that location opposite on American 24 

Parkway.  Second, we looked at baseball and baseball 25 
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being in operation at its peak time.  Now, keep in 1 

mind that there's only 142 minor league baseball 2 

games.  Of those 142, only 40 of those games are home 3 

games during the week in the evening and out of those 4 

40, there's only 10 to 12 games that are actually held 5 

on a Friday or Saturday evening.  So number one, we 6 

added the peak hour of traffic associated with Agere, 7 

which we know falls between the four and five o'clock 8 

peak hour.  We added the traffic associated with 9 

baseball, assuming that that occurred every day.  That 10 

peak hour is somewhere between 6:30 and 7:30.  Based 11 

on the information we were supplied by the casino, by 12 

Evansville with respect to the existing customer 13 

counts, their peak hour falls between six and seven 14 

o'clock, so as a worst-case scenario, we took all of 15 

those volumes, the highest volume for all three of 16 

those uses and said let's assume that they all occur 17 

at the same exact peak hour.  So number one, you have 18 

a significant amount of traffic that's associated with 19 

that --- with those three developments in that area.  20 

Number two, we included a ten-year projection as far 21 

as our traffic was concerned.  With that ten-year 22 

projection comes a growth rate.  That growth rate was 23 

approximately 33 percent of growth in traffic, so we 24 

have the three different developments, assuming they 25 
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all fall in the same peak hour.  We have 33 percent 1 

growth and then we went through and analyzed it.   2 

When we analyzed it, we determined that there are some 3 

issues with respect to the surrounding roadway 4 

network, but a significant portion of improvements are 5 

being proposed by developers along the Airport Road 6 

corridor to the point that those improvements are, for 7 

the most part, the maximum that can be done in that 8 

area.  We are proposing improvements to the access, to 9 

our access point, and we're also proposing traffic 10 

signal improvements, which will mitigate our impact. 11 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 12 

  To address the issue, though, if there is 13 

no improvement by the other developers, what happens 14 

then? 15 

  MR. HAMMOND: 16 

  Well, if there's no improvement by the 17 

other developers, then, to be quite frank with you, 18 

we'd have to go back and look at what improvements 19 

would be necessary.  I can tell you that it's very 20 

unlikely that those improvements not be completed due 21 

to the fact there have been approximately 12 reviews 22 

done by PennDOT on that major project.  In my last 23 

discussions with PennDOT representatives stated that 24 

they were on their seventh or eighth highway occupancy 25 
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permit submission review, and that they would 1 

anticipate that all the major issues have been 2 

addressed and they would be receiving approval 3 

sometime early next year. 4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 5 

  Okay.  Fine.  Thank you. 6 

  MR. HAMMOND: 7 

  Thank you. 8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 9 

  One question about management.  Is Mr.   10 

--- I understand Mr. Brown is going to stay with the 11 

project for a while or is he to become the general 12 

manager or is --- Mr. Ruden, are you going to be 13 

staying with this or how do we ---? 14 

  MR. RUDEN: 15 

  Well, I'm sure the residents of Allentown 16 

would love to have me around, but I'm --- well, I'm a 17 

development guy, you know, and I'm going to be 18 

continuing on with Columbia to insure that this 19 

project gets built. 20 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 21 

  That's my question. 22 

  MR. RUDEN: 23 

  However, I have no operational role. 24 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

126  126 

  I understand.  I understand.   1 

  MR. RUDEN: 2 

  I mean, Jim is the operational ---. 3 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 4 

  Mr. Brown said something about staying 5 

for --- I couldn’t tell whether it was for a while or 6 

longer.  I couldn’t tell. 7 

  MR. BROWN: 8 

  My staying --- joining the new company, 9 

Columbia Entertainment, is a permanent career 10 

decision.  I am not joining for any temporary period 11 

of time. 12 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 13 

  Are you coming to Allentown to be the 14 

general manager?  That's what I was unsure of. 15 

  MR. BROWN: 16 

  I do not expect to be the general  17 

manager --- 18 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 19 

  Oh, okay. 20 

  MR. BROWN: 21 

  --- of the facility.  I expect to oversee 22 

the operation of the facility. 23 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 24 

  Okay. 25 
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  MR. BROWN: 1 

  And remain hands-on. 2 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 3 

  That's fine.  I just wanted to understand 4 

the role and whether you were staying around for a 5 

while.  I have two quick ones.  There was a commitment 6 

from, I believe, Wimar with respect to $76.2 million 7 

in equity but only initially --- the initial, but they 8 

only need --- the need initially is $10.8.  I just 9 

wanted to make sure I understood the slide correctly. 10 

  MR. FITZPATRICK: 11 

  The $10.8, it --- I'm sorry.  Chairman? 12 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 13 

  Sure.  Please. 14 

  MR. FITZPATRICK: 15 

  The $10.8 is really the land that's 16 

already been acquired. 17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  Okay. 19 

  MR. FITZPATRICK: 20 

  And the remaining equity as we begin to 21 

build-out the project will be putting our money in 22 

pursuit with the bank lending. 23 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 24 

  I understand.  That's what I was trying 25 
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to understand.  And the very last question is we've 1 

sort of touched about this, but I think someone said 2 

early on, I don’t think it was the management of 3 

either company, but I think one of the experts said 4 

that they didn’t think this was a market for a 5 

destination resort.  And I'd like to have a little 6 

clarification on that if I could.  Is that something 7 

that's not possible in terms of a true destination 8 

resort or --- I mean, by way of comparison, if you 9 

will, or does this market not drive that is what the 10 

point is. 11 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 12 

  Well, if I may, if you take a look around 13 

the country and you look at where destination resorts 14 

are located --- 15 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 16 

  Right. 17 

  MR. SINCLAIR: 18 

  --- you can look at Atlantic City, you 19 

can look at Las Vegas, the Gulf coast prior to Katrina 20 

and probably Foxwoods and Mohegan Sun.  Those 21 

jurisdictions all share one thing in common, that's 22 

low taxes.  That's because they can generate a greater 23 

return on investment for that type of capital 24 

expenditure.  Secondly, and three of these markets 25 
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share that common characteristic, not Foxwoods, 1 

Mohegan Sun, there are also several properties located 2 

within walking distance of each other.  The point is 3 

that it's easy to say you're going to build a 4 

destination resort, it's quite another thing to 5 

actually build a successful one.  And there are, as 6 

Bob mentioned and I mentioned here, was New Orleans.  7 

There are examples of properties that were overbuilt 8 

in regional markets.  And I'm not going to go so far 9 

as to say that they can't do it, but I certainly 10 

wouldn’t invest my money in the prospect. 11 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 12 

  All right.  Well, thank you.  Any other 13 

questions from the Board?  I'm going to turn it back 14 

to Anne and our Staff then, please. 15 

  MS. NEEB: 16 

  At this time, if the applicant has 17 

nothing further, we would be prepared to give our 18 

findings from the Bureaus. 19 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 20 

  Please.  Michael, do you want to start? 21 

  MR. SCHWOYER: 22 

  Chairman Decker, members of the Board, 23 

the Office of Enforcement Council has reviewed the 24 

findings of the background investigation of this 25 
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applicant and I am not aware of any issue which 1 

preclude the approval of Tropicana Pennsylvania, LLC 2 

as a Category 2 slot machine operator.   3 

  MS. MISKIN: 4 

  At this time, based on the financial 5 

information and the application and the financial 6 

information provided by the applicant, the financial 7 

suitability task force did not find anything material 8 

that would preclude Tropicana Pennsylvania, LLC from 9 

obtaining a Category 2 slots operator license. 10 

  MS. HENSEL: 11 

  At this time, based on the materials and 12 

information in the application and the cooperation 13 

received from the applicant, the Bureau of Licensing 14 

is not aware of any issues that would preclude 15 

licensure of Tropicana Pennsylvania, LLC as a Category 16 

2 slots operator, other than that the Act 71 mileage 17 

restrictions would prevent the Board from approving 18 

both Tropicana and Sands Bethworks Gaming, LLC for 19 

Category 2 licensure. 20 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 21 

  Okay.  Thank you.  Is there anything else 22 

from Staff?  Do you have any more exhibits before 23 

we're done? 24 

  MS. NEEB: 25 
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  No more exhibits. 1 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 2 

  Okay.  We did it all.  Anything from the 3 

applicant? 4 

  MR. ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 5 

  Mr. Chairman, a final point of 6 

clarification from Mr. Dandridge. 7 

  MR. DANDRIDGE: 8 

  Just on the transportation, when Mr. 9 

Hammond was talking about additional developments 10 

coming on and those private developers making 11 

improvements to the transportation network, in the 12 

Lehigh Valley comprehensive plan, they have to put 13 

together a transportation improvement program which 14 

goes to the state transportation improvement program, 15 

so they're already going to be looking into widening 16 

Route 22 from four lanes to six to eight lanes, 17 

improving the interchange right there near, in the 18 

area between Airport Road, so all of those changes 19 

that are going to be local, state and federal dollars 20 

will get completed. 21 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 22 

  Thank you.  Again, anything else?  No? 23 

  ATTORNEY QUAGLIA: 24 

  No, Mr. Chairman. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  No.  Do I have a motion to close the 2 

record and adjourn? 3 

  UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER: 4 

  Second. 5 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 6 

  Second.  All those in favor? 7 

ALL RESPOND AYE   8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 9 

  Any opposed?  The motion carries.  The 10 

record is now closed and we're adjourned.  Thank you 11 

very much for the excellent presentations today.   12 
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